University of South Carolina Scholar Commons

Theses and Dissertations

Summer 2020

17 β -Estradiol and Phytoestrogens Attenuate Apoptotic Cell Death in HIV-1 Tat Exposed Primary Cortical Cultures

Sheila Marie Adams

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd

Part of the Biomedical Commons

Recommended Citation

Adams, S. M.(2020). 17 β-Estradiol and Phytoestrogens Attenuate Apoptotic Cell Death in HIV-1 Tat Exposed Primary Cortical Cultures. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd/5986

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you by Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact digres@mailbox.sc.edu.

17 β-ESTRADIOL AND PHYTOESTROGENS ATTENUATE APOPTOTIC CELL DEATH IN HIV-1 TAT EXPOSED PRIMARY CORTICAL CULTURES

by

Sheila Marie Adams

Bachelor of Arts Clark Atlanta University, 2002

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in

Biomedical Science

School of Medicine

University of South Carolina

2010

Accepted by:

Rosemarie M. Booze, Major Professor

Chairman, Examining Committee

Jim R. Fadel, Committee Member

David D. Mott, Committee Member

Ashok Chauhan, Committee Member

Steven B. Harrod, Committee Member

Tim Mousseau, Dean of The Graduate School

© Copyright by Sheila Marie Adams, 2010

All Rights Reserved

DEDICATION

To my Grandmama and Granddaddy, I know you are looking down upon me from heaven. Thank you for always believing in me and pushing me forward. I hope I have made you proud. I miss you both immensely.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge first and foremost, my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ, for HIS blessings.

Words alone can not express my gratitude for my family for their continued support and encouragement: my mama for her unconditional love and wisdom and to my sisters for coming to my aid when I needed them.

I am immensely grateful to my advisor, Dr. Rosemarie Booze for giving me an opportunity and her encouragement, guidance and support. She committed the valuable resources and time towards my development as scientist and I will be forever grateful.

I am also thankful for my committee members Drs. Jim R. Fadel, Steven Harrod, David Mott, Ashok Chauhan and Alvin Fox for their knowledge and support.

I am deeply honored for the mentorship of Dr. Marina Aksenova and Dr. Michael Aksenov. I am grateful for their patience and willingness to share their knowledge and making me a coffee addict.

I would also like to thank Dr. Charles Mactutus for his support and encouragement.

I am grateful for my friends and colleagues for their encouragement and enduring my stressed out craziness: To Melanie Madison and Petra Olton for listening to my rants and keeping me sane, Janelle Silvers, Mark Ferris, Sylvia Fitting, Ulla Hasselrot, Leah Reznikov, Dani Fredrick-Duus, Courtney Pinard, Sangeeta Kowli, Katy Webb, Nicha Otero, Emily Stanley, Sloka Iyengar, Shayna Wrighten, Lauren Hord, and Landhing Moran. I am blessed to consider you friends and hope our paths will continuely cross.

Finally, I offer my regards and blessings to all of those who supported me in any respect during the completion of the project.

ABSTRACT

Despite the advent of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART), neurological disorders develop in most people infected with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1). The poor CNS delivery of anti-retrovirals allows continued virus production and renders neurons susceptible to the toxic effects of released viral proteins. The neurotoxic potential of HIV-1 viral protein Tat has been shown to include excitotoxicity, oxidative stress, and mitochondrial dysfunction leading to subsequent cell death. Thus, Tat is thought to have a key role in the pathogenesis of HIV-associated neurodegeneration. Estrogens are universally considered to be neuroprotective, as such; estrogens have positive implications in the treatment of neurodegenerative disease, as well as acute neuronal death. Estrogen neuroprotective mechanisms may include a direct neuronal antiapoptotic effect as estrogen modulates actions of key regulators of the mitochondrial/intrinsic apoptotic cascade. However, estrogen therapy is associated with increased risk of breast and uterine cancers. Estrogen receptors (ERs) are present in the brain and are thought to mediate estrogen protective actions. Compounds that selectively target estrogens protective effects without eliciting its negative side effects may serve as viable therapeutic options.

In the present study, we tested the ability of estrogen and phytoestrogens

(genistein and daidzein) to protect against apoptotic signaling in cortical cell cultures exposed to Tat 1-86 (50 nM), and additionally, whether the beneficial actions of estrogen and phytoestrogens involved an estrogen receptor sensitive mechanism. We demonstrated that estrogen pretreatment significantly delayed Tat-induced cell death in primary cortical cultures. Pretreatment with 17β -estradiol or phytoestrogens attenuated the increased expression of anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2, pro-apoptotic protein Bax and activation of caspases linked to mitochondrial apoptotic pathway following Tat exposure. In addition, select components of apoptotic pathway signaling appear more sensitive to estrogen receptor (ER) activation, as the addition of ER antagonist ICI182,780 reversed downregulation of Bax and caspase 3, while effects on Tat-induced Bcl-2 and caspase 9 expression were maintained. Moreover, the addition of preferential ER α and ER β antagonists (MPP dihydrochloride and PHTPP) indicated that 17β-estradiol and phytoestrogen effects on caspase 3 may be mediated by both receptor subtypes, while $ER\beta$ was more involved in effects on Bax. Our data suggest that 17β -estradiol and phytoestrogen are able to intervene against HIV Tat-induced cortical neuronal dysfunction via intersecting mitochondrial apoptotic pathway signaling in an ERsensitive manner.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATIONiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiv
ABSTRACTvi
LIST OF FIGURESxi
I. CHAPTER I. Introduction1
1.1. HIV-1 infection and consequences for the central nervous system
1.2. Pathology of HIV in CNS
1.3. Oxidative stress in HIV dementia
1.4. Tat
1.4.1. Tat-induced neurotoxicity7
1.4.2. Effect of HIV-1 viral protein Tat on mitochondria10
1.5. Estrogen in Neurodegeneration12
1.5.1. Neuroprotective role of estrogen14
1.5.2. Potential mechanisms of estrogen neuroprotective actions16
1.5.3. Estrogen receptor mediated mechanism of neuroprotection16
1.5.4. HIV-1 infection in Women20
1.5.5. Estrogen in HIV dementia21

1.6. Phytoestrogens	23
1.6.1. Absorption and Bioavailability	24
1.6.2. Effects of soy isoflavones on cognitive function	25
1.6.3. Soy isoflavones neuroprotective effects	27
1.6.4. Potential mechanisms of soy isoflavones actions in the brain	28
1.7. Summary	30

II. CHAPTER II. To determine 17 β -estradiol effects on HIV-1 Tat –induced apoptotic signaling in primary cortical cell cultures.

2.1. Introduction.	33
2.2. Experimental Design	34
2.3. Materials and Methods	34
2.3.1. Cortical cell culture	35
2.3.2. Cell viability	35
2.3.3. Apoptosis detection	36
2.3.4. Immunocytochemistry	37
2.3.5. Anti-Tat and active caspase immunofluorescence	37
2.3.6. Detection of apoptotic proteins (ELISA)	38
2.4. Statistical Analysis	40
2.5. Results.	40
2.5.1. Estrogen delays cell viability changes in primary neuronal cultures exposed to Tat 1-86	; 10

	2.5.2. Caspase activation in rat primary neuronal cell cultures exposed to Tat1-86
	2.5.3. Tat immunoreactivity colocalize with active caspase expression in neuronal culture
	2.5.4. HIV/Tat exposure increases Bax, Bcl-2, and caspase activation in neuronal culture
	$2.5.5.17 \beta$ -estradiol attenuates Tat-induced expression of Bcl-2, Bax and active caspases in neuronal cultures
2.6. I	Discussion

III. CHAPTER III. To determine whether estrogen affects Tat-induced apoptosis through estrogen receptor- mediated mechanism

3.5.4. Estrogen receptors mediate 17β-estradiol effects on caspase 3 activity in Tat-exposed cortical

	cultures63
	3.5.5. ER subtypes differentially mediate estrogen effects on caspase 3 activity and Bax expression following Tat exposure
3.6	Discussion
IV. CHAP endogenou	PTER IV. To determine if phytoestrogens are equally effective as us 17β-estradiol against Tat-induced apoptotic signaling.
4.1	. Introduction
4.2	. Experimental Design76
4.3	. Materials and Methods76
	4.3.1. ELISA detection of apoptotic proteins
4.4	. Statistical Analysis
4.5	. Results
	4.5.1. Effects of genistein and daidzein on Tat-induced caspase activation in primary fetal rat cortical cell cultures
	4.5.2. Effects of genistein and daidzein on pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins Bax and Bcl-2 upregulation in Tat-exposed primary cortical cell culture.79
	4.5.3. Estrogen receptor-mediated effects of genistein and daidzein against Tat-induced caspase 3 activation and Bax expression in primary cortical neuronal cultures
4.6	. Discussion
V. CHAP	FER V. General Discussion
Reference	List 103

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1	Estrogen treatment delays HIV-1 Tat 1-86 mediated decrease of cell viability in primary rat cortical cultures
Figure 2.2	Caspase activity in rat fetal cortical cultures exposed to 50 nM Tat1- 86
Figure 2.3	Time course of apoptotic protein expression in primary cortical cultures following Tat exposure
Figure 2.4	17β-estradiol attenuates Tat-induced expression of Bcl-2 and Bax protein levels
Figure 2.5	17β-estradiol attenuates Tat-induced increases in active caspase expression
Figure 3.1	Estrogen receptor expression in primary cortical cultures
Figure 3.2	Image of Tat immunoreactivity in rat fetal cortical cell cultures
Figure 3.3	Tat-induced Bax expression sensitive to estrogen receptor -mediated estrogenic actions
Figure 3.4	Estrogen receptor mediates estrogen effects on Tat-induced Caspase 3 not Caspase 9 active expression
Figure 3.5	Estrogen receptor subtype specific effects against caspase activity and Bax expression
Figure 4.1	Phytoestrogens attenuate Tat-induced caspase activation in primary cortical cultures
Figure 4.2	Phytoestrogens attenuate Tat-induced expression of Bcl-2 and Bax protein levels
Figure 4.3	Estrogen receptors mediate phytoestrogen effect on Caspase 3 and Bax expression in 50 nM Tat exposed cortical cultures
Figure 4.4	Estrogen receptor subtype specific effects against caspase activity and Bax

expression	.82
------------	-----

CHAPTER 1

1. Introduction

1.1. HIV-1 infection and consequences for the central nervous system

Over 33 million people worldwide are infected by HIV (UNAIDS/WHO), and while HIV is most well known for its devastating effects on the immune system and the resulting AIDS, it can also cause several neurological disorders, collectively known as HIV-associated neurocognitive disorders (HAND) (Dewhurst et al., 1996; Gray et al., 2001). HAND syndromes are characterized by cognitive, motor and behavioral abnormalities (Kaul et al., 2005) and are classified according to patient performance in areas of neurological and behavioral functioning and neuropsychological testing (Sacktor et al., 2001; Sactor, 2002; McArthur, 2004). Prior to the advent of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART), 20-30% of individuals with advanced HIV infection displayed symptoms of the severe HAND, HIV-associated dementia (HAD) (Kaul et al., 2005; Gonzalez-Scarano and Martin-Garcia, 2005). With the widespread use of HAART, the incidence of HAD has dramatically decreased; however, as many of 40% of HIVpositive patients continue to suffer from HAND (Dewhurst et al., 1996; Gray et al., 2001; Nath et al., 2008; Dewhurst et al., 1996; Gray et al., 2000; King et al., 2006; Li et al., 2005). Moreover, as the incidence of HAD has decreased, its prevalence is actually

increasing, due in part to the longer life expectancy of HIV-infected persons and to patient resistance to HAART drugs (Gonzalez-Scarano and Martin-Garcia, 2005; Gray et al., 2003; MacArthur et al., 2003; Sacktor et al., 2002; Maschke et al., 2000). The continued prevalence of milder forms of HAD suggests a shift in the distribution of HAND subtypes in the post-HAART era. In patients presenting even the milder forms of HAND, quality of life is greatly affected, with these individuals suffering from disruptions in ability to perform activities of daily living, perhaps most importantly, that of adherence to the HAART regiment (MacArthur, 2004). Manifestation of mild cognitive/motor disorder (MCMD) appears to indicate a worse prognosis for AIDS and has been highly correlated with the subsequent development of HAD and the detection of HIVE at autopsy (Sactor et al., 1996; Cherner et al., 2002). This continued prevalence of neurological dysfunction, suggests HAART fails to provide complete protection from the development of HAD (Antorini et al., 2007; Ellis et al., 1997; Liner et al., 2008; Boisse et al., 2008). This failure to prevent the deterioration or enable restoration of cognitive function has been linked to limited penetration of many antiretroviral drugs in the CNS (Enting et al., 1998). It is also of note that HAART, in the long term, poses a potential toxicological problem that may affect neurocognitve performance. Although HAART has impacted on the incidence of HAD, it still remains a serious concern during AIDS. A recent study reported that 90% of HIV-1 infected patients that died between 1996 and 2001 were newly diagnosed with HAD within 12 months of death (Welch and Morse, 2002). It is suggested that HAD is the most common form of dementia worldwide in people aged 40 years or less, and is a significant independent risk factor for death due to

AIDS (Ellis et al., 1997).

1.2. Pathology of HIV in CNS

HAD manifests as subcortical dementia characterized by psychomotor slowing, changes in mood and anxiety levels, deficits in memory, information processing, verbal fluency, decision making and attention (Navia et al., 1986; Grant et al., 1987; Price et al., 1988; Portegies et al., 1993). With such a range of symptoms, numerous brain regions commonly damaged in HAD are basal ganglia, deep white matter, hippocampus, and cerebral cortex (Berger et al., 2000; Dewhurst et al., 1996; Gray et al., 2001; Gray et al., 2003; Maschke et al., 2004; Sporer et al., 2005). Pathological features of HAD include multinucleated giant cells, activated microglia, dendritic simplification, and cell death (Kaul et al., 2005(Archibald et al., 2004). Clinical signs of HAD are more closely associated with increased numbers of microglia, evidence of excitotoxins, and selective neuronal damage and loss, rather than correlating with viral load in the CNS.

Cerebral atrophy and white matter abnormalities are common neuroimaging findings among HIV-infected individuals, and are evident in both cortical and subcortical regions of the brain (Paul et al., 2002). Several reports have shown large neuronal loss in cortical regions in AIDS (Everall et al., 1991; Everall et al., 1993; Fischer et al., 1999; Moore et al., 2006). In some studies, the severity of atrophy was correlated with advanced stages of HIV-1 infection or with clinical signs of cognitive impairment. Volumetric MRI analysis has shown that cortical atrophy associated with HIV infection might be caused by neuron loss and demyelination (Arendt and Nolting, 2008; Arendt,

1995; Bornstein et al., 1992; Boska et al., 2004; Chang et al., 2002; Chiang et al., 1998; Costello et al., 2007; Dal Pan et al., 1992; Di, V et al., 1997; Elovaara et al., 1990; Ernst et al., 2002). Synaptodendritic loss will reduce the overall volume of brain gray and white matter. In HIV-infected individuals, the degree of neurocognitive impairment was strongly related to loss of immunostaining for synaptophysin and MAP2, pre and post synaptic proteins, respectively (Arendt and Nolting, 2008; Arendt, 1995; Bornstein et al., 1992; Boska et al., 2004). The degree of atrophy is correlated to the degree of cognitive motor dysfunction. Quantitative MRI shows a correlation between cerebral atrophy and neuropsychological performance (Ho and Jay, 2010; Dewey et al., 2010; Johnson and Nath, 2010; Ances et al., 2010; Gongvatana et al., 2009; Descamps et al., 2008). Eventually, the correlation persists between an increase in atrophy and worsening in certain cognitive functions (Hall et al., 1996; Everall et al., 1999). Neuronal loss in the frontal cortex and in other regions of the neocortex has been estimated between 18 and 38% (Everall et al., 1991; Ketzler et al., 1990). Select neuronal subpopulations, including larger pyramidal cells within the cortex, are at greater risk of cell death and similarly neuronal populations that secrete certain neurotransmitters are more likely to be diminished in the HIV-1 infected brain (Masliah et al., 1992).

1.3. Oxidative stress and HIV dementia

There is overwhelming evidence that oxidative stress mediates neuronal injury and contributes to the pathogenesis of HIV dementia. Oxidative stress in HIV-dementia patients has been demonstrated in the brain and CSF (Chauhan et al., 2003; Turchan et

al., 2003; Pocernich et al., 2005; Steiner et al., 2006). Oxidative stress can be defined by the modification and accumulation of biological molecules altered by various reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Pocernich et al., 2005). ROS are highly reactive, toxic oxygen moieties, such as hydrogen peroxide, peroxynitrite and superoxide anion. ROS can lead to oxidation of proteins and DNA, peroxidation of lipids and ultimately cell death. Protein carbonyl groups are used as a marker of protein oxidation, and they are generated from direct oxidation of amino acids or from binding of the lipid peroxidation product 4hydroxynonenal (HNE) to proteins (Pocernich et al., 2005). Staining of lipid peroxidation product HNE was found to be prominent in neurons, glial cells, perivascular cells in brain slices of patients with HIV encephalitis (Turchan et al., 2003). Protein oxidation was increased in the CSF of HIV-patients with mild and severe dementia compared to non-demented patients. Nitrated tyrosine residues, evidence of peroxytnitrite reaction with proteins, is increased in HIVD brains (boven, 1999). It was recently reported that levels of ceramide, sphingomyelin, and HNE are significantly increased in brain and CSF of HAD patient, and the HIV protein Tat can induce increases of all three in cultured neurons (Haughey et al., 2004; boven, 1999). Further, oxidative stress may be correlated with HIV-induced neuropsychological impairment (Turchan et al., 2003). This is partly due not only to the fact that HIV proteins and immune activation mediates the accumulation of ROS, but also to the fact that some antiretroviral therapy based on nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTI) has been shown to increase oxidative stress (Hulgan et al., 2003) and may be toxic to mitochondria (Lewis et al.,

2003).

To counteract the damaging free radicals, antioxidant systems have evolved that include enzymes glutathione peroxidase, superoxide dismutase and catalase. Protection against oxidative stress also comes from small, nonprotein antioxidants, such as glutathione, vitamin C, flavonoids, and vitamin E (Butterfield and Stadtman, 1997). Antioxidant levels in HIV-infected patients are altered, and may lead to increase oxidative stress (Pocernich et al., 2005; Steiner et al., 2006). Glutathione, which protects neurons from ROS and binds lipid peroxidation products such as HNE, has decreased levels in HIV patients (Drake et al., 2002; Pocernich et al., 2000). Serum glutathione levels and glutathione peroxidase activity are significantly reduced in HIV patients compared to controls while an increase in lipid peroxidation products and DNA fragmentation were increased (Gil et al., 2003). Additionally, levels of glutathione synthase are decreased in the liver, blood, and CNS of HIV-infected persons and low concentration of glutathione synthase has been correlated with poor survival in HIV infected patients (Herzenberg et al., 1997;Castagna et al., 1995). These data indicate the detrimental effects of oxidative stress in HIV infection, increases production of reactive oxygen species along with suppression of endogenous antioxidant systems.

1.4. Tat

Given that the HIV-1 virus does not directly infect neurons, it has been determined that detrimental effects in the brain are mediated by released toxic viral

products (King et al., 2006; van de Bovenkamp et al., 2002). Both direct and indirect neurotoxic mechanisms are believed to operate in HIV-related neurotoxicity. In the direct pathway, infected microglia and macrophages release viral particles and proteins, some of which have been shown to be neurotoxic in vitro. The viral molecules which are particularly implicated include gp120 and Tat.

HIV-1 Tat is a viral nonstructural protein of 86-101 amino acids in length and it is the product of two exons. Tat, a transactivating nuclear regulatory protein, is critical for viral replication and is secreted by HIV-1 infected cells (King et al., 2006; Noonan and Albini, 2000; Wallace, 2006). Secreted Tat may be taken up by neighboring cells, and in this manner, Tat is able to elicit affects on both infected and uninfected cells. The HIV-1 protein Tat released from macrophages produces trimming of neurites, mitochondrial dysfunction, and cell death in neurons (Chauhan et al., 2003; (Aksenov et al., 2003; Aksenov et al., 2001a; Kruman et al., 1998). HIV Tat has been detected in sera of HIVinfected patients at the low nanomolar level, in the range of 2ng/mL to 40 ng/mL (Wiley et al., 1996; Xiao et al., 2001).

1.4.1 Tat-induced neurotoxicity

Neuronal injury is a primary basis/component of many neurodegenerative diseases, including HAD. Given that the HIV-1 virus does not directly infect neurons, it has been determined that detrimental effects in the brain are mediated by released toxic viral products (King et al., 2006; van de Bovenkamp et al., 2002). Several HIV-1 encoded proteins, including the transcription transactivator Tat, have been demonstrated to directly induce neuronal cell death. HIV-1 viral protein Tat can be released by HIVinfected cells to the extracellular space, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and sera and is taken up by neurons (Chang et al., 1997; Ensoli et al., 1993; Sabatier et al., 1991). Tat has been detected in the brains of people with HIVE by mRNA and Western blotting analyses (Wiley et al., 1996; Hudson et al, 2000). The HIV Tat protein is thought to play a significant role in HIV related neuropathology. Tat is taken up by CNS cells, and often results in toxic consequences in both the cytoplasm and nucleus, including altered gene transcription, cytokine secretion, NMDAR activation in neurons, and the initiation of apoptotic cascades (Aksenov 2009; 2006; 2003; Silvers et al., 2007; Rappaport et al., 1999; Kumar et al., 1999). A combination of these cellular events are likely involved in neuronal apoptosis in response to HIV-1 infection and the secretion of Tat, however the exact mechanism is not well understood.

Tat induced neurotoxicity is thought to be mediated by various mechanisms including excitotoxic mechanisms involving calcium and oxidative stress. Tat toxicity has been associated with glutamate receptor activation, since antagonists of NMDA and non-NMDA receptors partially protect neurons from the toxic effects of Tat (Haughey et al., 2001; Magnuson et al., 1995; Nath et al., 1996). The neurotoxic effects of Tat are in part mediated by direct interactions with a polyamine-sensitive site on the NMDA receptor (Prendergast et al., 2001; Self et al., 2004). Studies have also suggested that Tat neurotoxicity is dependent on binding to low-density receptor (LPR) with subsequent activation of NMDAR (King et al., 2006). Several studies have shown that NMDAR

function may be modulated by dopamine D1-like receptors and a recent study has implicated D1-mediated pathways in the mechanism of Tat-induced neurotoxicity (Silvers et al, 2007). HIV-1 Tat may influence the activity of D1 receptors in postsynaptic neurons, thereby trigger NMDAR-regulated apoptotic cascades via D1/NMDAR interaction or, alternatively, NMDAR activation in D1-expressing neurons exposed to Tat may upregulate pro-apoptotic D1-mediated signaling (Silvers et al., 2007). Tat has been shown to activate phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, increase levels of IP₃, release calcium from endoplasmic reticulum internal stores, and increase activity of PKC isoforms, all precursors of oxidative stress (Aversa et al., 2004; Haughey et al., 1999; Borgatti et al., 1998; Haughey and Mattson, 2002).

Moreover, Tat exposure has been shown to increase markers of oxidative stress. Studies in our lab have demonstrated that striatal injections of Tat caused an increase in protein carbonyl formation that preceded Tat-mediated astrogliosis (Aksenov et al., 2001) and increased striatal tissue loss in rats (Bansal et al., 2000). Tat induced protein and lipid peroxidation has also been detected in synaptosomal membranes and neuronal cell cultures (Pocernich et al., 2004). Oxidative stress is an early step in Tat neurotoxicity as increases protein oxidation soon after Tat exposure, followed by pronounced neuronal degeneration and activation of macrophages/microglia (Aksenov et al., 2003). Tat may also compromise the functioning of antioxidant systems. Tat plays a major role in the glutathione system as demonstrated by a downregulation of glutathione synthetase, stopping glutathione synthesis, in the liver of tat-transgenic mice (Aksenov et al., 2001b; King et al., 2006; Noonan and Albini, 2000; Pocernich et al., 2005b; Pocernich et al., 2005a; Steiner et al., 2006; Wallace, 2006; Choi et al., 2000). HeLa cells expressing Tat were found to have decreased glutathione peroxidase activity and mRNA levels and low levels Mn superoxide dismutase (Bouvard et al., 2002; Richard et al., 2001). Protein oxidation was increased and antioxidant systems were decreased in these HeLa –Tat cells, reflecting ongoing oxidative stress.

1.4.2. Effect of HIV-1 viral protein Tat on mitochondria

Mitochondria are considered the powerhouses of the cell. They are responsible for generating energy as ATP and are key regulators of cell survival and death. Thus, mitochondria may have a central role in numerous neurodegenerative diseases. Damage to mitochondria is caused primarily by reactive oxygen species (ROS) generated by mitochondria. Mitochondria consume 85% of the oxygen utilized by the cell during production of ATP (Shigenaga et al., 1994). Normally, 4% of all oxygen consumed is converted in mitochondria to the superoxide radical (Shigenaga et al., 1994; Evans et al., 2002; Carreras et al., 2004). Superoxide is transformed to hydrogen peroxide by the detoxification enzymes Mn superoxide dismutase (Wallace, 2005) and then to water by glutathione peroxidase (Green et al., 2004). However, when these enzymes cannot convert ROS to water fast enough, oxidative damage occurs and accumulates in the mitochondria (James and Murphy, 2002; Sies, 1993; Pieczenik and Neustadt, 2007). As mentioned previously, these endogenous antioxidant enzymes are compromised in HIV-

infected patients.

A general mitochondrial effect of HIV-1 has been obtained by treating HIV-1 transgenic mice with AZT, an anti-retroviral drug. AZT is discovered to negatively affect mitochondrial DNA replication and provoke persistent mitochondrial myopathy in AIDS patients. In mice, transgenic HIV sensitizes to AZT-induced myocardial mitochondriopathy (Kohler et al., 2009; Pupure et al., 2008; Chan et al., 2007; Collins et al., 2004). In Tat-expressing mice, AZT-treatment caused a greatly enhanced suppression of Mn superoxide dismutase (Prakash et al., 1997; Shi et al., 1998). In addition, Tat was found to exacerbate signs of AZT-induced oxidative stress(Prakash et al., 1997). Thus, HIV-1 and particularly Tat, can affect mitochondrial metabolism in vivo.

Cells stably transfected with Tat are more susceptible than control cells to undergo apoptosis upon serum withdrawal. According to one study, Tat causes a decrease in Bcl-2 expression and an increase in Bax expression (Sastry et al., 1996). Another study reports that Tat translocates to mitochondria concomitantly with the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential (Macho et al., 1999). Addition of extracellular Tat causes apoptosis (Li et al., 1995; Aksenov et al., 2009; Adams et al., 2010). Tat downregulates the mitochondrial isoform of superoxide dismutase (SOD2), either at the post-transcriptional or transcriptional levels (Briehl and Baker, 1996; Flores et al., 1993; Gil et al., 2003; Marecki et al., 2004). This downregulation of SOD is thought to sensitize cells to the lethal effects of reactive oxygen species produced in mitochondria. Exogenous Tat can also induce the expression of pro-apoptotic proteins (Adams et al., 2010). These proteins include Bax and Par-4, which induces apoptosis via a mitochondrion-dependent mechanism (Kruman et al., 1998;1999). These results suggest multiple connections of between Tat-induced cell death and mitochondria.

Moreover, numerous studies suggest that Tat-induced cell death is mediated through the intrinsic/mitochondrial apoptotic pathway. Tat has been shown to induce Ca2+ influx from the extracellular environment through various neuronal calcium channels (Bonavia et al., 2001; Haughey et al., 2001; Perez et al., 2001; Nath et al., 1996). The elevation in cytosolic Ca2+ is an early event in neuronal apoptotic cascade and appears to trigger mitochondrial calcium uptake and subsequent mitochondrial dysfunction. Studies in cultured embryonic rat hippocampal neurons demonstrated that HIV-1 Tat induced neuronal cell death involved caspase activation, disruption of Ca2+ homeostasis, and generation of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (Kruman et al., 1998a).

1.5. Estrogen in neurodegeneration

Estrogens are primarily synthesized in the ovaries and in the suprarenal glands. The most potent and dominating estrogen is 17β -estradiol, but lower levels of estrone and estriol are also present (Gruber et al., 2002b). Following synthesis in the ovaries and suprarenal glands, 60% of estrogens are bound to plasma proteins and transported to the target tissue, including brain (McEwen, 2002; Gruber et al., 2002b). Estrogens are lipophilic and have a low molecular weight, which enables them to diffuse freely through the blood-brain barrier (Samii et al., 1994).

In the developing brain, estrogens control the differentiation and plasticity of distinct neuronal populations (Beyer, 1999). Estrogens promote growth in the hypothalamus, hippocampus, midbrain and cortex (McEwen and Alves, 1999). In the adult CNS, in addition to its regulation of HPA and sexual behavior (Herbison, 1998), estrogens also powerfully influence cognition-related neuronal activity, and the modulation of mood, mental state and learning, and memory (Brinton, 2001; McEwen et al., 1995; McEwen et al., 2001).

Gender differences have been associated with decreased risk, delayed onset and progression, or enhanced recovery from numerous traumatic or chronic neurological and mental diseases. This involves many different types of diseases, classified as neurotransmitter system abnormalities, disorders caused by trauma (stroke) or by defects in the immune or cardiovascular systems, and neurodegenerative diseases (Rogers and Wagner, 2006; Farooque et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2005; Wooten et al., 2004; Bayir et al., 2004). Although the reason for the gender difference in these diseases is still unknown, the concentration of estrogen may be involved, or the expression of their receptors.

Collateral support for a neuroprotective role of endogenous E2 has also arisen from observations of greater brain damage in males than in female animals in ischemic stroke models (Dubal et al., 1998; Zhang et al., 1998; Rusa et al., 1999; Alkayed et al., 2000). Moreover, estrogen deficiency as seen during menopause has been correlated with increased incidence of stroke and cognitive defects, mood changes, and early onset and severity of Alzheimer's (Correia et al., 2010; Aenlle et al., 2009; Rocca et al., 2007; Solenski, 2007; Genazzani et al., 2007).

1.5.1. Neuroprotective role of estrogen

There is recent yet still controversial evidence that estrogen treatment reduces the risk and delays the onset of some neurodegenerative diseases. In Alzheimer's disease (AD), the decline of estrogens is related to the risk of this disease in post-menopausal women (Tang et al., 1996). Early epidemiological evidence supported a role for estrogen replacement therapy (ERT) in reducing the incidence of AD in these women. Moreover, several studies indicated that ERT improves performance in some memory/cognition tests in AD patients (Henderson et al., 1995; Yaffe et al., 1998; Costa et al., 1999).

Both epidemiological and clinical reports indicate a positive role for estrogen use in Parkinson's disease (PD) (Saunders-Pullman et al., 1999). Reduction of estrogen supplementation in postmenopausal women causes a worsening of Parkinson-related symptoms, and the severity of symptoms in women with early PD is diminished by the application of estrogens (Morale et al., 2006). The neuroprotective acts of estrogen on the dopaminergic system may be indicated by epidemiological reports showing a sex difference in PD, as it is reported that PD has greater prevalence in males (Bourque et al., 2009; Dluzen, 2000; Liu et al., 2005; Miller et al., 1998; Sawada et al., 2002; Sawada et al., 1998).

Experimental investigations strongly support the idea that estrogens may play a neuroprotective role in neurodegenerative processes. Many in vitro studies indicate that

the addition of estrogen to culture media increases viability, survival, and differentiation of primary cultures from different populations, including those from the hypothalamus, amygdala, neocortex or hippocampus. The protective effects of estrogens have been widely reported in many different neuronal cell types against a variety of toxic insults, including oxidative stress (Behl et al., 1995; Borr β s et al., 2010; Gordon et al., 2005; Morale et al., 2006; Ozacmak and Sayan, 2009; Stirone et al., 2005; Strehlow et al., 2003), β -amyloid-induced toxicity (Bozzo et al., 2010; Carbonaro et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2008; Morinaga et al., 2007; Xu et al., 2006; guado-Llera et al., 2007; Ba et al., 2004), and excitotoxicity (Behl et al., 1995; Goodman et al., 1996). The effective concentrations for estrogen-mediated neuroprotection range from a low of 0.1 nM to a high of 100 μ M. This points to the existence of differences in the sensitivity to estrogenmediated protection in different neuronal types. Additionally, many studies have indicated that longer estrogen pretreatment times may increase neuroprotective potency of the hormone.

In addition to the extensive evidence for the neuroprotective effects of estrogens in vitro, there is now evidence for the neuroprotective effects of estrogens in animal models of the neurodegenerative process. Estrogen exposure yields a reduction in the degree of dopamine depletion resulting from treatment with the neurotoxic 6hydroxydopamine, a model of PD (Murray et al., 2003; Quesada and Micevych, 2004). Moreover, estrogens were also shown to protect nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons against MPTP-induced neurotoxicity in mice model of PD (Ramirez et al., 2003; Callier et al., 2001). Estrogens also provided neuroprotection against glutamate-induced neurotoxicity (Sawada et al, 1998).

There are also recent reports that the most frequently prescribed estrogen replacement hormones in the United States, conjugated equine estrogens, are neuroprotective against neuronal cell death induced by β -amyloid₍₂₅₋₃₅₎, hydrogen peroxide, and glutamate, and induce neurite outgrowth in cortical, hippocampal, and basal forebrain neurons (Diaz-Brinton et al., 2000; Brinton et al., 2000). This finding raised the possibility that estrogen replacement therapy may also have beneficial neurotrophic and neuroprotective effects on the brain.

1.5.2. Potential mechanisms of estrogen neuroprotective actions

Although, numerous studies demonstrated that estrogens play an important trophic and protective role in brain, it is still unclear the precise mechanisms involved in the neuroprotective effects of estrogens. Many of the neuroprotective effects of estrogens appear to be mediated by the activation of classical estrogen receptor (ER). Several reports have also indicated that estrogen neuroprotective activity is exerted via intracellular receptor-mediated mechanisms. Another plausible mechanism to explain the protective effects of estrogens is related to the ability of the hormone to alter free radical production or act as an anti-oxidant, which is exerted by their chemical structure.

1.5.3. Estrogen receptor mediated mechanism of neuroprotection

The classical mechanism of estrogen action is through one of two estrogen

receptors (ERs), ER α and ER β , which act as nuclear transcription factors. ER α and ER β each are composed of several domains: a) a highly variable N-terminal domain containing a transactivation region that activates expression of target genes by interacting with core transcriptional machinery; b) a DNA binding domain that contains two zinc fingers and is involved in receptor dimerization and specific DNA binding; and c) a large and complex ligand-binding domain that is also involved in nuclear localization, receptor dimerization, and interactions with other transcriptional regulatory factors(Witkowska et al., 2008; Kuiper et al., 1997). ER α and ER β share high sequence homology in their DNA and ligand-binding domains (95.5% and 59.7%, respectively, in the rat), but differ in other domains(Witkowska et al., 2008; Kuiper et al., 1997; Gruber et al., 2002a). When ERs bind estradiol, they can form homo-or heterodimers, which can bind to estrogen response elements (EREs) in DNA and recruit other components of transcription machinery to promote gene expression (Gruber et al., 2002a). Estradiol-bound ER α and $ER\beta$ also bind the Fos/Jun complex to regulate gene expression through activated protein-1 sites in a manner that is independent of EREs. Binding assays indicate that estradiol has similar binding affinity for ER α and ER β . The two forms of ER are structurally and functionally distinct, each regulating unique sets of target genes in a tissue and cell type-specific manner (Kian Tee et al., 2004). This may be due to the net effect of homo- or heterodimerization of ERβ and ERα. Receptor-mediated transcription is also modulated by coregulators (activator and repressor proteins and protein complexes). The numerous coregulator proteins and various selective combinations

associate with ERs and critically determine the region and cell-type specificity of the effects of ER ligands. Furthermore, the recent discovery in rodent and human brains of ER splice variant proteins, which alter gene transcription in a promoter- and ligand-dependent fashion, adds further diversity to ER signaling mechanisms (Chung et al., 2007; Ishunina and Swaab, 2008). The expression, coexpression, and ratio of ER α /ER β and their splice variants in addition to the presence of combination of coregulatory proteins in any cell, will have a profound influence on the estrogen response.

Steroid hormones have traditionally been thought to act exclusively through nuclear receptors (Levin, 2001). However, recently both nuclear and membrane/cytoplasmic pools of ER α and ER β have been demonstrated and the receptors have similar affinity for the estrogen ligand. In addition, steroid actions occur at the cell surface, a function that is preserved from plants to humans (Levin, 2001; Kushner et al., 2000). It is widely accepted that membrane ER signaling through kinase cascades, calcium and other second messengers impacts transcription (Watters et al., 2000). Pharmacological and ultrastructural evidence demonstrates that classic ERs can also be localized at the cell membraneto effect rapid activation of intracellular signaling pathways and modulatory proteins within seconds to minutes of exposure to estrogen (McEwen and Alves, 1999; Toran-Allerand et al., 2002; Gorosito et al., 2008; Raz et al., 2008). These effects include increases in intracellular calcium concentrations and activation of protein kinases in the cAMP/camp-dependent protein kinase pathway, the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK or ERK), and the PI3K/Akt pathway. These pathways may interact and converge, to effect gene transcription and protein synthesis

via rapid down-stream activation of transcription factors, such as the CREB or NFkB.

The mechanisms by which activated membrane ERs elicit cellular responses are not yet understood, but interaction with other cell-surface receptors and G-proteins, IGF-1 and glutamate receptors may be a means in which ERs trigger intracellular signaling systems and affect cellular responses (Garcia-Segura et al., 2001, Mermelstein, 2009). Estrogen-activated signaling pathways can also increase mitochondrial efficiency and lead to a reduction in free radical generation in the brain and mitochondrial dependent apoptosis (Nilsen et al., 2007; Brinton, 2008; Chen et al., 2009). Estradiol has been reported to act as an NMDA receptor antagonist (Weaver et al., 1997) and to block calcium entry through the calcium channel (Mermelstein et al., 1996). This inhibition of calcium entry was not mediated by the estrogen receptor but by a plasma membrane receptor for estradiol. It occurs rapidly in seconds after estradiol administration and diminished soon after the removal of estradiol. Furthermore, membrane-initiated and genomic actions of hormones may be coupled. Most of the cellular mechanisms described for estrogen actions, involving MAPK and PI3K/Akt signaling and mitochondrial function, have important roles in cell survival, apoptosis function, neurodevelopment, and may subserve the critical neurotrophic and neuroprotective effects of estrogens in brain physiology and pathological conditions.

Protective effects of estradiol could also be mediated by activation of mitochondrial ERs, which are present in many cell types, especially tissues such as the brain with demand for mitochondrial energy metabolism. Along with nuclear ERs and

their coactivators, mitochondrial ERs are involved in cytoprotection from oxidative stress and regulation of apoptosis (Razmara et al., 2008). It is suggested that a deficiency in this estrogen-dependent mechanism might be related to neurodegenerative disease pathogenesis.

1.5.4. HIV-1 infection in Women

In recent years, the rate of HIV infection in women has been climbing significantly. HIV infection is the third leading cause of death in women between the ages of 25-44y. Women account for half of all people living with HIV worldwide- at the end of 2007 and estimated 15.4 million women were infected with HIV (UNAIDS 2008). The proportion of women living with HIV varies significantly between different regions of the world, with a higher burden in sub-Saharan Africa and the Caribbean. In sub-Saharan Africa women account for nearly 61% of all adults living with HIV, while in the United States only 25% of people with HIV are women (CDC 2007; UNAIDS 2007). Over the last 10 years, the number of women living with HIV globally has remained stable, but in latin America, Asia and Eastern Europe this number is slowly increasing (UNAIDS 2007).

HIV-1 infected women have a lower plasma viral load compared to HIV infected men at similar stages of HIV-1 infection, suggesting that gender differences may affect HIV/AIDS pathogenesis (Sterling et al., 2001; Evans et al., 2001; Farzadegan et al., 1998). These differences suggest a higher risk to AIDS among women with lower viral load measurements and significantly lesser eligibility of women for therapy after seroconversion according to current guidelines for initiating antiretroviral therapy in women (Zhang et al., 2008). Moreover, there is evidence that women are less likely to start HAART despite equal access to care (Berg et al, 2004; Gilad et al., 2003). With HIV detected early in the brain after infection, delayed initiation of antiretroviral treatment may diminish effectiveness against toxic challenges in the CNS. Alternate therapy, not dependent on viral load, may be considered to circumvent the detrimental effects of HIV infection on neuronal functioning and survival.

Hormone levels are thought to play an important role in the susceptibility and immune responses to HIV-1 infection in women. In women with HIV infection, menstrual abnormalities frequently develop with increased cycle variability, polymenorrhea or amenorrhea (Clark et al., 2001; Farzadegan et al., 1998; Harlow et al., 2000). Additionally, HIV-infected women have been shown to undergo menopause earlier than noninfected women. Perimenopausal and menopausal symptoms may be more prevalent among HIV-infected women (Kojic et al., 2007). Conversely, an estrogen deficient state such as menopause has been associated with a prolonged disease course, and with an increase incidence of AIDS-related dementia. Moreover, a European study showed that women are two times more likely to develop HIV dementia than men (Chiesi et al, 1996).

1.5.5. Estrogen in HIV dementia

Accumulating evidence suggests that estrogen is able to protect against various neurodegenerative insults, including the neurotoxicity of HIV viral proteins. For example, estrogen reduces the extent of cell death in response to a variety of noxious disease-related stimuli such as excitatory amino acids (Sribnick et al., 2004), oxidative stress (Nilsen, 2008; Wallace et al., 2006) and β -amyloid toxicity (Nilsen et al., 2006; Hosoda et al., 2001). These cellular actions may explain its ability to ameliorate cognitive decline and reduce the incidence and progression of neurodegenerative disease. Furthermore, estrogen was shown effective in preventing the neuronal damage associated with Tat-induced toxicity (Kendall et al., 2005; Wallace et al., 2006). Estradiol protected mitochondria in receptor-independent manner that may be related to its anti-oxidant properties. Estradiol was also shown to suppress the proinflammatory effects of HIV proteins (Bruce-Keller, 2001). 17 β -estradiol treatment was also shown to reduce the number of apoptotic neurons and modulate the expression of anti-apoptotic proteins including Bcl-2 in primary neuronal cultures (Nilsen et. al., 2006). The mechanism(s) of estrogen neuroprotection are not fully understood, but may be linked to regulation of proteins that either promote cell survival or induce cell death. Identifying estrogen regulated apoptotic factors may be vital to elucidating the underlying mechanism(s) of estrogen protection.

These observations warrant further studies in HIV infected women with cognitive impairment or at risk for developing dementia. However, because of the potential risk of uterine and breast cancer, estradiol cannot be used in this population. Furthermore, due to
feminizing effects of estradiol, it cannot be used in men or children. Hence it is important to develop compounds that have the neuroprotective effects of estradiol but not the negative side effects.

1.6. Phytoestrogens

In recent years, phytoestrogens have been attracting increasing attention among the public and medical community because of evidence from a large body of literature suggesting that consumption of plant-based foods rich in these compounds may benefit human health (Than et al., 1998; Adlercreutz and Mazur, 1997; Setchel, 1998). Epidemiologic data and clinical experience indicate that estrogen therapy offers protection from cardiovascular disease, reduces the extent of osteoporosis, improves cognitive function and improves menopausal symptoms associated with ovarian estrogen loss. Substantial data from epidemiologic surveys and nutritional intervention studies in humans and animals suggest that dietary phytoestrogens have protective effects against menopausal symptoms and a variety of disorders, including neurodegenerative diseases.

Phytoestrogens are found in various plants consumed by humans, including legumes, seeds, and whole grains. Phytoestrogens in the diet may have a role in modulating hormone-related diseases based on their structural similarity to 17 β -estradiol. The majority of phytoestrogens found in typical human diets can be categorized into two primary classess, isoflavones and lignans. The most abundant food sources of

isoflavones are soybeans and its products. Isoflavones are the most common form of phytoestrogens. Two of the major isoflavones found in humans are genistein and daidzein. Genistein and daidzein are parent compounds, which are metabolized from their plant precursors, biochanin A and formononetin, respectively. In plants, isoflavones are inactive when present in the bound form as glycosides, but when the sugar residue is removed, these compounds become activated. These plant compounds undergo fermentation by intestinal microflora, with both metabolites and unfermented parent compounds now able to be absorbed. In the body, they do not undergo any further metabolism and are excreted in the urine (Sakai et al., 2008). In the colonic microflora, daidzein may be metabolized to equol. Daidzein, genistein, equol, and Odemethylangolesin are the major phytoestrogens detected in the blood and urine of humans and animals.



The molecular structure of biologically active isoflavones resembles that of 17β -estradiol.

1.6.1. Absorption and Bioavailability

It seems the bioavailability of isoflavones, particularly genistein and daidzein,

depends on the gut microflora activity. Despite considerable degradation of isoflavones in the gut, their plasma concentrations are significant. Isoflavones are mainly present as inactive glycosides and after enzymatic processes in the gut by bacteria, they become active compounds, taken up by enterocytes and entering the peripheral circulation (Branca and Lorenzetti, 2005). In humans, there is large variability in genistein and daidzein metabolism, due in part to variable individual intestinal flora and transit time. In an adult, consumption of 50 mg/day of isoflavones may give rise to plasma concentrations ranging from 200-3000 nM. Other studies evaluating plasma concentration of phytoestrogens have reported that plasma levels in humans range from 10 nM to 10 μ M.

Numerous factors, such as light, environmental conditions, plant genetics, ripeness and species variety, affect the formation and the content of phytoestrogens in plants. It is also reported that the estimated daily intake of isoflavones differs among countries, ranging from 20-100 mg/day. In Asian countries, an average daily dietary intake of soy and isoflavones is estimated to 50 g and 20-150 mg, respectively. In western countries, intake of isoflavones is considerably lower, at 1g of soy daily and 2mg of isoflavones. Also of note, women consuming the commercially available phytoestrogen preparations are taking doses ranging from 50-150 mg aglycones/day, doses in range of what is consumed in Asian populations.

1.6.2. Effects of soy isoflavones on cognitive function

Various types of neural damage may induce neurodegenerative diseases associated with cognitive decline. Several studies have found that soy isoflavones can improve cognitive functions in both humans and rats, but underlying mechanisms remain unknown (File et al., 2001). Soy isoflavones have an estrogenic effect and it is reported that isoflavones may improve cognitive functions my mimicking the effects of estrogen in the brain (Pan et al., 2000).

Human studies

Although numerous experimental studies have shown that isoflavones are beneficial to cognitive functioning, in the clinical setting results vary on the cognitive effects of isoflavones. Some studies have shown that isoflavones improve cognitive function in postmenopausal women. The SOPHIA study examined cognitive functioning of postmenopausal women receiving soy isoflavones every day over 12 weeks. Women receiving soy supplementation showed significantly higher performance on memory and attention tasks compared to controls (Duffy et al., 2003;). However another study of isoflavone supplementation in postmenopausal women, found no improvement of cognitive functioning after 1 year. Additionally, young healthy adults receiving high dosage of soy showed significant improvement in short and long-term memory and mental flexibility; improvements were seen in both males and females. Although the clinical data examining the effects of isoflavones on cognitive function offer differing results, these clinical trials indicate that soy isoflavones might improve cognitive function not only in postmenopausal women but also young adult women and males.

Animal studies

Several studies have shown that soy isoflavones improve cognitive function in female rats. In one study, OVX rats given isoflavone containing diets for 10 months showed a dose-dependent improvement in radial arm maze tests (Pan et al., 2000). Another study reported that female rats consuming a lifelong high-isoflavone diet showed acquisition of the radial arm maze faster than female rats consuming a isoflavone free diet (Lund et al., 2001).

The effects of soy isoflavones on cognitive function in male rats remains controversial. It is not yet clear whether isoflavones have beneficial or detrimental effects on cognitive function in male rats. It has been demonstrated that male rats consuming a high isoflavone diet performed worse on a visual spatial memory test than male rats consuming an isoflavone-free diet (Lund et al., 2001). However, it was recently reported that male rats consuming an isoflavone diet significantly outperformed male rats consuming a isoflavone free diet in a spatial delayed matching to place test (Lee et al., 2004).

1.6.3. Soy Isoflavones neuroprotective effects

Several studies have shown that isoflavones have neuroprotective effects against various insults. Genistein has been shown to have an antioxidant effect on neurons exposed to radical damage. In human cortical cell lines, pretreatment with 10 or 50µM of

genistein was found to prevent cell death due to tertiary butylhydroperoxide or oxidative stress (Sonee et al., 2004). Additionally, in hippocampal cells from rats, genistein was found to reverse effects of $A\beta_{25.35}$ on loss of cell viability, DNA fragmentation, intracellular increase in free calcium, the accumulation of reactive oxygen species and caspase 3 activation (Zeng et al., 2004). Another study reported that in thapsigargininduced apoptosis, associated with mitochondrial dysfunction, DNA laddering, and caspase activation, the addition of genistein was able to decrease the number of apoptotic neurons and the number of neurons containing active caspase-3 (Linford and Dorsa, 2002). Genistein was also found to protect human neuroblastoma cells from A β -induced death and attenuated A β -induced apoptosis (Bang et al., 2004). Moreover genistein and daidzein were among six phytoestrogens that demonstrated neuroprotective efficacy against glutamate excitotoxicity and A $\beta_{25.35}$ in hippocampal neurons (Zhao et al., 2002).

1.6.4. Potential mechanisms of soy isoflavones actions in the brain

Estrogen receptor-mediated regulation

17β-estradiol, a mammalian estrogen, has been shown to protect neurons and affect cognitive function. It is thought that this effect is associated with estrogen receptors (ERs) in the brain, additionally is also suggested that isoflavones had neuroprotective and cognitive functions in the brain. Estrogen has been shown to affect neuron survival and growth, synaptic plasticity, brain function via a ER-mediated pathway and/or antioxidant properties. The effects of estrogen on nuclear and nonnuclear ERs can modulate brain

functions by regulating gene transcription and second messenger systems. Isoflavones may act in a similar way because they too exhibit estrogenic activity.

The estrogen effects of isoflavones appear to be dose dependent. Some studies suggest that the neuroprotective effects of isoflavones may be mediated by two mechanisms that operate at different concentrations. These studies demonstrate that at the nanomolar level, genistein protects neurons via an ER-mediated pathway, while at the micromolar level, genistein displays antioxidant abilities (Zeng et al., 2004).

As isoflavones can affect the viability of neurons and cognitive function by acting as estrogenic agonist, they can also utilize differential distribution and regulation of the ER subtypes, ER α and ER β in the brain. The binding affinity for ER β is higher than that for ER α by a factor of 20-fold in vitro. Additionally, genistein has been shown to affect ER β - but not ER α -dependent gene expression in the hypothalamus. However, it is still unclear which ER subtype mediates the neuroprotective efficacy of estrogen/phytoestrogen. Treatment with 17 β -estradiol prevented the apoptotic neuron death, and resulted in the strong expression of ER α and increased bcl-2 in primary cultures from rat brain (Harms et al., 2001). Several lines of evidence also suggest that ER β is involved in neuroprotection. Estradiol exerted neuroprotective effects on dopaminergic neurons by suppressing proapoptotic gene transcription through the AP-1 site via activation of ER β (Sawada et al., 1998). Genistein was also shown to attenuate neuronal apoptosis via an ER β -mediated pathway. In this study, only ER β was detected in a neuron culture, thus it was suggested that the neuroprotective effect of isoflavone is mediated through ER β . However, there have been reports that demonstrated that both ER subtypes are involved in neuroprotective actions. Both ER α and ER β agonists were found to protect hippocampal neurons from glutamate-induced neurotoxicity (Zhao et al., 2004).

Like estradiol, phytoestrogens are thought to have neuroprotective effects due to the ability to bind estrogen receptors and mediate estrogenic processes. Phytoestrogen preferential binding to ER β is of significant consideration in neuroprotection as this ER subtype is highly expressed in the brain compared to ER α , which due to its high expression in the reproductive tissue, has been associated with the proliferative effects of estrogen. Elucidating whether phytoestrogen neuroprotection is mediated by ER selectivity is a central focus in research of neurodegenerative diseases.

Summary

Neuronal injury is a primary basis of many neurodegenerative diseases, including HIV-1 associated dementia (HAD). The HIV-1 viral protein Tat is thought to play a significant role in HIV related neuropathology and involving mitochondrial dysfunction and the potentiation of neuronal apoptosis. Hormone levels are thought to play an important role in the susceptibility and immune responses to HIV-1 infection in women. Estrogen deficiency has been associated with increased risk of neurodegenerative disease, including HAD. Accumulating evidence suggests that estrogen is able to protect against various neurodegenerative insults, which are mediated by two estrogen receptor (ER)

isoforms, ER α and ER β . Despite its positive actions, the benefits of estrogen therapy on women's health are overshadowed by its association with an increased risk of reproductive cancers and cardiovascular disease. However, soy phytoestrogens represent a viable alternative to estrogen therapy as they have been shown to bind to ERs and affect estrogen mediated processes. In the current experiments, we seek to determine if treatment with 17 β -estradiol attenuates HIV-1 Tat-induced mitochondria associated apoptotsis in cortical cell cultures; whether estrogenic effects against Tat –induced mitochondria mediated apoptosis occurs through receptor mechanisms; and lastly, if phytoestrogens are equally effective as endogenous estrogen 17 β -estradiol against Tatinduced apoptotic signaling. We proposed that estrogen neuroprotection against HIV-1 viral protein Tat-induced neural toxicity involves ER-mediated attenuation of apoptotic signaling. Furthermore, soy phytoestrogens can mimic estrogen effects against Tatinduced apoptosis by targeting ER-subtype specific effects.



Mitochondria-mediated apoptotic cascade. HIV-1 Tat exposure (red arrows) has been shown to induce mediators of the apoptotic cascade leading to subsequent cell death. However, the antiapoptotic effects of estrogen (blue arrows) has been shown to involve regulation of Bcl-2- related proteins and downregulation of caspase activity.

CHAPTER 2

Experiment 1. To determine 17 β -estradiol effects on HIV-1 Tat –induced apoptotic signaling in primary cortical cell cultures.

2.1. Introduction

Estradiol is known to have protective properties for neural cells during injury and chronic diseases including neuro-AIDS (Nilson, S. et al., 2001; Wilson et al, 2006). It reduces the extent of cell death in response to variety of noxious stimuli such as excitatory amino acids, oxidative stress and β -amyloid toxicity by both in vitro and in vivo methods (Behl, 2002). Furthermore, estrogen was shown effective in preventing the neuronal damage associated with Tat-induced toxicity (Turchan et al., 2001; Kendall et al., 2005; Wallace et al., 2006). Estradiol treatment was also shown to reduce the number of apoptotic neurons and regulate the expression of anti-apoptotic proteins including Bcl-2 in primary neuronal cultures (Nilsen et. al., 2006). Studies have also shown that estrogen administration was able to attenuate caspase activation, which is responsible for many of the biological and morphological features of apoptosis, and mitochondrial signal transduction pathways induced by neurotoxic insults (Zhang et al., 2005). These cellular actions may explain its ability to ameliorate cognitive decline and reduce progression of neurodegenerative disease. As mitochondria play a central role in

apoptosis and neurodegeneration, we will further assess if Tat exposure induces mitochondria mediated apoptotic cell death. We will determine if the addition 17 β -estradiol prior to Tat exposure attenuates Tat-induced cell death signaling.

2.2. Experimental Design

Recombinant Tat 1-86 (50 nM) (Diatheva, Italy) was added to culture medium. To assess neurotoxicity, cortical cell cultures were exposed to Tat for 4, 24, 48, or 72 h for cell viability assays. In assessing estrogen effects against Tat toxicity, 17 β-estradiol (10 nM, Sigma) was added to neuronal culture 24 h prior to Tat exposure. Tat induction of apoptotic pathway was assessed by total caspase activity using FLICA in live Tat exposed cultures. A direct interaction of Tat and apoptotic neurons was determined via immunocytochemisty using antibodies against Tat and active caspase 3. Enzyme -linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) was used to quantify expression of mitochondria apoptotic pathway regulatory proteins, pro- and anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins Bax and Bcl-2 respectively and active caspases in fetal rat cortical cultures exposed to Tat. We determined if Tat exposure increases expression of mitochondrial apoptotic markers Bax, Bcl-2 and caspase 9 and caspase 3, and whether estrogen effects on Tat-induced cell death involve attenuation of the mitochondria mediated apoptotic cascade. Data was analyzed with a one way ANOVA and planned comparison tests.

2.3. Materials and Methods

Neuronal cultures were prepared from 18-day-old Sprague-Dawley rat fetuses. Rat cortex were dissected and incubated for 15 min in a solution of 2 mg/ml trypsin in Ca²⁺ and Mg2+ - free hanks balanced salt solution (HBSS) buffered with 10 mM HEPES (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). The tissue was then exposed for 2 min to soybean trypsin inhibitor and rinsed three times with HBSS. Cells were dissociated by trituration and distributed to poly-L-lysine coated culture plates. At the time of plating each well contained DMEM/F12 medium supplemented with 100 ml/l fetal bovine serum. After a 24 h period, the DMEM/F12 medium was replaced with 2% v/v B-27 Neurobasal medium supplemented with 2 mM GlutaMax and 0.5% w/v D- (+) glucose. Cultures were used for experiments after 12 days in culture.

2.3.2. *Cell Viability*

Neuronal survival was determined using a Live/Dead viability/cytotoxicity kit (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) in rat fetal cortical cell cultures prepared in 96-well plates. In accordance with the manufacturer's protocol, neurons were exposed to cell-permeant calcein AM (2 μ M), which is hydrolyzed by intracellular esterases, and to ethidium homodimer-1 (4 μ M), which binds to nucleic acids. The cleavage product of calcein AM produces a green fluorescence (F_{530 nm}) when exposed to 494-nm light and is used to identify live cells. Bound ethidium homodimer-1 produces a red fluorescence (F_{645 nm}) when exposed to 528-nm light, allowing the identification of dead cells. Fluorescence

was measured using a Bio-Tek Synergy HT microplate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments, Inc., Winooski, VT). Each individual $F_{530 nm}$ and $F_{645 nm}$ value on a plate was corrected for background fluorescence (readings obtained from cell cultures (wells) that were not exposed to calcein AM and ethidium bromide) by the microplate reader KC4 software package (Bio-Tek Instruments, Inc., Winooski, VT). For each individual cell culture (well) on a plate, ratios between corrected green and red fluorescence ($F_{530 nm}/F_{645 nm}$, Live/Dead ratios) were calculated. All individual relative numbers of live and dead cells were expressed in terms of percentages of average maximum Live/Dead ratio determined for the set of non-treated control cell cultures (8–16 wells) from the same plate: $[F_{530 nm}/F_{645 nm}]_{well n}/[F_{530 nm}/F_{645 nm}]_{average max} \times 100\%$.

2.3.3. Apoptosis detection

Following Tat treatment, neuronal apoptosis was analyzed by the Fluorochrome Inhibitor of Caspases (FLICA) Poly-Caspase (green fluorescence) Apoptosis Detection Kit (Immunochemistry Technologies LLC, Bloomington, MN). Poly-caspases Detection Kit contains a carboxyfluoroscein-labeled inhibitor of total caspase activity (CR-VADfluoromethyl ketone). VAD is an amino acid sequence targeted by all caspases. When covalently coupled to caspases, the dye is retained within the cell and the fluorescent signal is a direct measure of the number of active caspase enzymes that were present in the cell at the time the reagent was added. FLICA solution was added directly to the cell incubation medium and the plate was returned to the incubator for 1 additional hour. After 1h, Hoechst stain was added to the medium for neuronal nuclei counterstaining and incubated for an additional 3-5 min at 37°C. Cells were washed twice with wash buffer supplemented with the kit. For the microplate readings of total caspase activity, rat fetal cell cultures were prepared in black wall 96-well culture plates (Costar). Green fluorescence produced as a result of interaction of CR-VAD fluoromethyl ketone with active caspases in Tat-treated and control cultures was determined using 488/530 nm filter set. Sensitivity was automatically adjusted to low signal wells that contained no fluorescent inhibitor. Blue fluorescent Hoechst neuronal nuclei counterstain was used to normalize differences in cell density between individual wells.

2.3.4. Immunocytochemistry

For immunocytochemistry experiments, Tat-treated cultures and non-treated controls were fixed in acetic alcohol (95% ethanol, 5% acetic acid) for 10 min and washed three times (5 min/wash) with Dulbecco phosphate-buffered saline (D-PBS): Na2HPO4 (1150mg/L), KH2PO4 (200 mg/L), NaCl (8000 mg/L), KCl (200mg/L) at pH 7.4. Following fixation, cultures were blocked with 10% normal horse serum (NHS) in PBS and used for the analysis.

2.3.5. Anti-Tat and active caspase immunofluorescence

Rabbit polyclonal Tat antibody (Diatheva, Italy) was used to determine Tat 1-86 immunoreactivity. Mouse monoclonal active caspase 3 antibody was used to determine caspase 3 activity. Primary antibodies were diluted 1:500 in 1% NHS/PBS. Cell cultures

were incubated with primary antibodies overnight at 4°C. Each set of experiments included cell culture dishes which were left without primary antibody. These cell cultures served as controls for non-specific binding of secondary antibodies. After incubation with primary antibodies was complete, plates were washed three times (5min/wash) with PBS. For the immunofluorescent detection of Tat immunoreactivity goat anti-rabbit IgG conjugated with Alexa 594 dye (Molecular Probes) diluted 1:500 in 1% NHS/PBS was used. Plates were incubated with secondary antibodies for 1h at room temperature and then washed 3 times with PBS.

Microscopic images of Tat and active caspase 3 immunoreactivity in primary cell cultures were captured using the computer-controlled inverted fluorescent microscope (Nikon Eclipse TE2000-E) under 20x magnification and analyzed using NIS-Elements BR 2.30 imaging software package (Nikon). Images of specific Tat immunofluorescence were merged with the subsequent differential interference contrast (DIC) images.

2.3.6. Detection of apoptotic proteins (ELISA)

Cortical cell cultures were prepared as described previously. 17 β -estradiol (10 nM, Sigma) was added to neuronal cell cultures 24 h prior to Tat exposure. After 24h estrogen pretreatment, recombinant Tat 1-86 (50 nM, Diatheva, Italy) was added to culture medium. Cell cultures were then exposed to Tat for 4, 16, and 24h before cell harvesting for ELISA experiments. Cell lysates were prepared from cultures grown in 24-well plates. At the time of harvesting, medium was removed and cells were washed three

times with Dulbecco phosphate-buffered saline, D-PBS, (8 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.5 mM KH₂PO₄, 0.137 M NaCl and 2.7 mM KCL at pH 7.4) and lysed with CellLytic TM- M mammalian cell lysis buffer (Sigma Chemicals) containing protease inhibitors (protease inhibitors cocktail, Sigma Chemicals). All samples in a group (6 sister culture wells) were pooled together and protein concentration was determined by BCA method (Pierce, Rockford, Ill.). Each well of Costar 96-well ELISA plates (Corning Inc, PA) was coated overnight at 4 °C using 100 µl of 20 mM carbonate coating buffer, pH 9.6. Cell culture lysates were diluted 1:10 with D-PBS and 2 ug of each sample were added to the plate wells in triplicates. After overnight incubation at 4 °C, plates were rinsed 5 times with PBST (0.05% Tween 20 in PBS, pH = 7.4) and blocked with 1% BSA in PBS for 2 h at room temperature. After blocking, plates were washed again as described above and primary anti-Bax, anti-Bcl-2, anti- active Caspase 9 and anti- active Caspase 3 antibodies (Abcam, Cambridge, MA) diluted 1:5000 in 0.1% BSA-PBST were added to each well except for blanks and no-primary antibody control wells. Plates were kept overnight at 4 °C. When the incubation with primary antibodies was completed, plates were again washed 5 times with PBST and secondary antibodies (goat anti-rabbit alkaline phosphatase conjugated, Sigma) diluted 1: 2000 in 0.1% BSA-PBST were added to each well except for blank and no-secondary antibody control wells. After 2 h of incubation, secondary antibody solution was removed, plates were washed 5 times with PBST and 100 µl of BluePhos phosphatase substrate mixture (KPL Research, Gaithersburg, MD) was added to the plate wells. After 30 min of incubation, the absorbance at 650 nm was determined using a Bio-Tek Synergy HT microplate reader. Multiple readings were taken within a 1-h time period.

2.4. Statistical Analysis

Statistical comparisons were made using one way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison tests were used to determine specific treatment effects. Significant differences were set at p<0.05. Data represent percent of control values.

2.5. Results

2.5.1. Estrogen delays cell viability changes in primary neuronal cultures exposed to Tat1-86

Previous studies have demonstrated that 17 β-estradiol was protective against neurotoxicity induced by HIV-1 viral proteins in cell culture (Kendall et al., 2005; Turchan et al., 2001), specifically using Tat 1-72. We evaluated the ability of 17βestradiol to protect against recombinant HIV Tat1-86 -induced toxicity,the more stable tat variant, derived from the first and second exons of the tat gene. Preliminary dose response studies demonstrated no significant differences in protective efficacy of doses ranging from 10 nM-100 nM of 17β-estradiol. Additionally, prior studies have shown that 10nM dose of 17 β-estradiol was effective against HIV protein toxic insults in vitro (Kendall et al., 2005). Significant decreases in cell viability were detected in Tat-treated cultures after 48h and 72h, p<0.05. Pre-incubation with 10 nM 17 β-estradiol attenuated the neurotoxic effects of HIV Tat 1-86 (**Figure 2.1**). Treatment with estradiol prevented the 20% reduction in cell viability observed in cultures treated with Tat alone. Repeated measures ANOVA revealed significant main effects of time [F(3,27)=29.65, p<0.05] and treatment [F(1,9)=7.69, p<0.05] and a significant time and treatment interaction [F(3,27)=7.41, p<0.05]. Specifically, 17 β -estradiol was effective in delaying the onset of Tat-induced cell death, as a significant difference in cell viability between Tat-treated vs. Tat + 17 β -estradiol cultures was detected at 48h and 72h, p<0.05.

2.5.2. Caspase activation in rat primary neuronal cell cultures exposed to Tat1-86

Execution of the apoptotic pathway leading to DNA degradation, subsequent cell death, involves activation of the caspase cascade. Results of microplate fluorescent detection of total caspase activity in cell cultures exposed to 50nM dose of Tat 1-86 for 2, 24, and 48 h are shown in **Figure 2.2A**. Significant increases in total caspase activity were detected in cell cultures exposed to Tat for 2h ($127\pm11\%$, p<0.05) and 24 h (145 ± 8.4 , p<0.05). In cell cultures treated with 50 nM Tat for 48 h or longer, total caspase activity was not different from controls.

2.5.3. Tat immunoreactivity colocalize with active caspase expression in neuronal culture

We determined if Tat induction of cell death involves direct interaction of Tat with apoptotic neurons. **Figure 2.2B** demonstrates the immunodetection of cell-bound Tat immunoreactivity and active caspase 3 immunoreactivity in neuronal cultures exposed to 50 nM Tat for 2h. These results indicate the colocalization of bound Tat 1-86 with activated caspases in cultured neurons.

2.5.4. HIV/Tat exposure increases Bax, Bcl-2, and caspase activation in neuronal culture

Prior experiments have demonstrated that Tat treatment induced apoptosis in primary cell cultures (Aksenova et al., 2009; Bonavia et al., 2001). This Tat induced apoptosis may involve activation of the mitochondrial mediated apoptotic pathway. Therefore, we assessed markers specific to the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway including active caspase expression and pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins, Bax and Bcl-2 at different time points following exposure to 50nM Tat 1-86 (**Figure 2.3**). Results indicate that active initiator caspase 9 protein levels were significantly increased early (4h) after Tat exposure (122±9%, p<0.05); levels at later time points decreased and were not significantly different from untreated controls. Tat also induced a significant increase in active caspase 3 expression early (4h) (208 ± 9%, p<0.05) after treatment, and this increase was maintained throughout later time points, 16h (187± 7%, p<0.05) and 24h (211±7, p<0.05).

We also observed the expression of upstream apoptotic regulatory proteins Bcl-2 and Bax, which monitor mitochondrial membrane permeability and thus the release of apoptotic factors from mitochondria involved in caspase activation. Results indicated that Tat treatment caused a ~60% increase in pro-apoptotic Bax expression at 4h (p<0.05) that was maintained until 16h of exposure (p< 0.05) (**Figure 2.3**). Additionally, antiapoptotic Bcl-2 protein levels reached significantly high levels only after 16h of Tat exposure (147±10%, p<0.05). No significant changes were seen at 4h or 24h of Tat exposure, as levels were similar to that of controls.

2.5.5. 17 β -estradiol attenuates Tat-induced expression of Bcl-2, Bax and active caspases in neuronal cultures

We examined the effects of 17β -estradiol against Tat –induced Bcl-2 and Bax protein expression. Our findings demonstrate that pretreatment with estrogen caused a significant reduction in Tat-induced expression of Bax vs. cultures treated with Tat alone $(83 \pm 4\% \text{ vs. } 131\pm 8\%, p<0.001)$ (**Figure 2.4A**). Addition of 17 β -estradiol completely reversed Tat-induced changes in Bax, as exhibited by an approximately 45% reduction in Bax protein levels, relative to those generated by Tat alone. Results indicated that estrogen administration attenuated the Tat-induced increase in Bcl-2 observed at 16h of exposure (**Figure 2.4B**). Compared to cultures treated with Tat alone, cultures treated with estradiol (10nM) 24h before Tat exposure displayed a significant 20% decrease in Bcl-2 expression ($103\pm7\%$ vs. $123\pm7\%$ tat-treated cultures, P < 0.05).

Caspase activation is known to be a critical phase in the cell death process. Activation of initiator caspases, such as caspase 9 leads to the further activation of effector caspase 3, which triggers the final proteolytic phase of apoptosis (Green, 1998; Haeberlein, 2004; Spierings et al., 2005). We examined if the addition of estradiol could eliminate Tat-induced increases in active caspase 9 and active caspase 3 expression. Results indicated that pretreatment with 10nM 17 β -estradiol significantly attenuated early (4h) Tat-induced caspase 9 expression (p < 0.05) (**Figure 2.5A**). We then determined if the inhibition of Tat-mediated caspase 9 activation by estrogen corresponded with reduced active caspase 3 immunoreactivity. Our results show that estrogen treated cultures displayed modest though significant attenuation of caspase 3 expression at 4h (141±4 vs. 166±8 tat-treated cultures, p<0.05), 16h (130±4 vs. 159 tat-treated cultures, p<0.05) and 24h (136±4 vs. 160±5 tat-treated cultures, p<0.05) (**Figure 2.5B**). However, estrogen down regulation of caspase 3 was not complete to the level of untreated controls.



Figure 2.1 Estrogen treatment delays HIV-1 Tat 1-86 mediated decrease of cell viability in primary rat cortical cultures. The graph demonstrates the decrease in live cells in primary cultures following exposure to 50 nM Tat 1-86. Addition of 10nM 17β-estradiol 24h prior to Tat 1-86 exposure was able to significantly delay onset of cell death in primary neuronal cultures. Data presented as mean values, n of sister cultures analyzed 5-10 per each time point. *p<0.05 as compared to non-treated controls, #p<0.05 as compared to Tat-treated vs. Tat+E treated cultures.





A.



Figure 2.3. Time course of apoptotic protein expression following Tat exposure. Cortical lysates were collected at 4h, 16h and 24h following Tat 1-86 (50 nM) exposure. Expression of Bcl-2 (anti-apoptotic), Bax (pro-apoptotic), active Caspase 9 (initiator) and active Caspase 3 (effector) were assessed by ELISA experiments. Results are presented as % of control values, experiments performed in triplicate, *p < 0.05 as compared to controls.





Figure 2.4. 17 β -estradiol attenuates Tat-induced expression of Bcl-2 and Bax protein levels. Cortical cultures were treated with 10 nM 17 β -estradiol 24h prior to Tat exposure. Expression of apoptotic proteins A. Bax (4h Tat exposure) and B. Bcl-2 (16h of Tat exposure) were assessed by ELISA experiments. Results are presented as % of control value, with experiments performed in triplicate, *p<0.05 as compared to controls, **p< 0.05 as compared to Tat-treated cultures. Legend box: Tat (T), Tat+Estrogen (T/E). Reference line in graph represents control group.



Β.

Caspase 3



Figure 2.5. 17 β -estradiol attenuates Tat-induced increases in active caspase expression Cortical cultures were treated with 10 nM 17 β -estradiol 24h prior to Tat exposure. Expression of active A. Caspase 9 (4 h of Tat exposure) and B. Caspase 3 were assessed by ELISA experiments. Results are presented as % of control value, with experiments performed in triplicate, *p<0.05 as compared to controls, **p< 0.05 as compared to Tat-treated cultures. Legend box: Tat (T), Tat+Estrogen (T/E). Reference line in graph represents control group.

2.6. Discussion

The neuroprotective actions of estrogen have been demonstrated in many experimental models of neurodegenerative disease, including various dementias (Pike et al., 2009; Wilson et al., 2006). However, the mechanisms underlying the beneficial effect of estrogen are not well understood (Green & Simpkins, 2000). In this study, we sought to determine if estrogen attenuates Tat-induced cell death by inhibiting caspase cascade activation and modulating levels of anti-apoptotic and pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 related proteins, key regulators of mitochondrial/intrinsic apoptotic signaling.

Extensive cortical neuron damage and dropout is a significant consequence of NeuroAIDS, likely stemming from susceptibility of cortical cells to the various toxic mechanisms attributed to HIV-1 viral infection, contributed by the protein Tat. Tat may play a role in HIV-1 related neuropathology as prior studies have demonstrated the presence of Tat mRNA and protein in patients with HIVE and HAD. AIDS dementia is characterized by neuronal loss associated with synaptic damage (Weiss et al., 1999) and Tat exposure in vitro has been shown to induce similar pathology (Kim et al., 2008). As HIV-infected individuals are living longer, the rate of CNS disease is actually increasing, as well as the incidence of cognitive impairment, intensifying the need for therapeutic interventions capable of supporting neuronal functioning and viability.

In the present study , we used primary fetal rat cortical cell cultures to demonstrate that HIV- 1 Tat 1-86 can induce neuronal cell death by apoptotic mechanisms and that the process can be reversed or inhibited by 17β -estradiol. Our

results demonstrate that Tat exposure induced delayed cell death, as significant decrease in cell viability does not become apparent until 48h of Tat exposure. This suggests that in Tat-induced cell death, susceptible neurons are primed for death. Previous studies in our lab and others, demonstrate that Tat is rapidly taken up into cells with maximal absorption/binding detected at 2hr of Tat exposure. This coincides with our findings of increased ROS production and a decrease of mitochondrial membrane potential, and activation of caspases early (2h) after Tat exposure. These observations indicate that Tat initiate toxic events that primes susceptible neurons for cell death.

Estrogen pretreatment significantly attenuated Tat-induced cell death, thus it is plausible that estrogen effect on cell death involves attenuation of Tat neurotoxic mechanism(s). The delay in cell death represents a critical window of opportunity for therapeutic intervention to augment Tat-induced cell death. Understanding the toxic challenges associated with Tat exposure essential to preventing subsequent loss of cell viability and function. Although HIV-1 Tat has been shown to be neurotoxic, information about the time course of the development of Tat-mediated neurodegeneration is very limited. Direct interactions of Tat with cultured neurons, which includes binding of Tat to neuronal cell membrane, the uptake of the protein and translocation of Tat into the nuclei, require a very brief exposure time (Chandra et al., 2005; Aksenova et al., 2009). Studies in our lab demonstrate that the absorption of Tat by rat fetal neurons occurs within min after the addition of Tat to the culture medium. Previously, we reported increased ROS production and mitochondrial dysfunction following 2h exposure cell cultures to 50nM Tat 1-72 (Aksenov et al., 2006). In the current experiment we

demonstrate an increase in total caspase activity in 2hr of Tat exposure that was maintained over 24h. Levels of active caspases returned to that of controls by 48h. The loss of caspase activity coincides with significant decrease of cell viability, implicating that the dead neurons were expressing active caspases. As neurons are dying, caspase activity is loss.

Indeed the time period during which Tat 1-86 immunoreactivity is detectable in cell lysates overlaps with the increase in early and total caspase activities. Moreover, immunocytochemistry experiments detecting Tat and caspase 3 immunoreactivity demonstrate the colocalization of bound/internalized Tat with activated caspases in neurons. These observations confirm the theory that direct interactions of Tat induce oxidative stress-dependent apoptosis in neurons (Kruman et al., 1998; Aksenov et al., 2006; Aksenova et al., 2009).

Additionally, we determined that Tat –induced cell death was mediated by activation of caspases, a family of enzymes involved in signal transduction of apoptotic stimuli and cellular disassembly (Stennicke and Salvesen, 2000). Caspase 3, the downstream effector of the caspase cascade, is activated in several neurodegenerative disorders (Garden et al., 2002, Namura et al., 1998; Su et al, 2000). Elevated active caspase 3 immunoreactivity was reported in cerebrocortical neurons from patients with HAD and in cultured rodent neurons exposed to HIV viral proteins (Zheng et al., 1999). Our results demonstrate that active caspase 3 expression was significantly increased early following Tat exposure and these elevated levels were maintained for 24h after Tat

exposure. These findings support our findings that detected increases in total activated caspases in living cells and demonstrated increases in total caspase activity early after Tat exposure, peaking at 24h (Aksenov et al., 2009).

Previous studies have shown that the neurotoxic capabilities of Tat include inducing oxidative stress and disrupting mitochondrial membrane functioning (Aksenov et al., 2006; Aksenova et al., 2006; Kruman et al., 1998). Moreover, the mitochondria play a central role in mediating apoptotic signaling (Kroemer et al., 2007; Danial &Korsmeyer, 2004; Green& Kroemer, 2004:1998). As such, we determined if Tatinduced caspase 3 activation corresponds with the expression of key regulatory proteins linked to mitochondria mediated apoptotic pathway in cultured cortical neurons. Following the addition of Tat 1-86 to primary cultures, increased expression of active caspase 9, an initiator caspase associated with mitochondria-mediated apoptosis pathway, was apparent after 4h of Tat exposure. The activation of caspase 9 was detected as early as 2h following Tat treatment in living cells (Aksenova et al., 2009). However, active caspase 8 immunoreactivity, associated with extrinsic/death receptor mediated apoptotic cell death was not detected in Tat exposed cortical cultures (data not shown). Lack of caspase 8 activation in Tat treated cultures suggests that the death- receptor initiated apoptotic cascade may not play a major role in our model of Tat -induced caspasedependent apoptosis.

Consistent with the suggestion that mitochondrial intrinsic pathway contributes to Tat-mediated apoptosis, our results demonstrated that pro-apoptotic Bax protein levels were significantly increased early after the addition of Tat 1-86 to neuronal cultures. This increase in Bax expression was concurrent with expression of active caspases. Moreover, in our culture model, a ~20-30% reduction in cell viability with Tat exposure has been observed (Aksenova et al., 2009). Even with prolonged exposure and with Tat maintaining its toxicity, only a particular population of neurons appeared to be Tat-sensitive and die, whereas the remaining cells were resistant to Tat-toxicity. We observe that rat fetal neuronal cell cultures contain a subpopulation of neurons in which Tat interactions are able to induce a caspase-dependent apoptotic cascade. It is likely that the early induction of pro-apoptotic signals (Bax, caspase activation) may increase the susceptibility of Tat-sensitive cells to cell death. However, we found that an increase in anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 followed this induction of Bax expression and caspase activation. The significant increase in Bcl-2 expression may mediate a neuronal survival promoting response and thus reflect a compensatory mechanism to impede further apoptotic signaling and maintain the viability of remaining neurons.

Although Tat-induced apoptosis has been associated with caspase activation (Kruman et al., 1998), alternate mechanisms of cell death may also be activated by Tat toxicity. Caspase-independent apoptosis is well established and suggest the induction of alternate execution pathways. NMDA receptors are known to play the key role in the mechanism of Tat-mediated apoptosis (Haughey et al., 2001; Perez et al., 2001; Eugenin et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2008; Aksenova et al., 2009). Activation of NMDA receptors led to the development of apoptosis without involvement of caspases, due to the direct action of apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) on neuron nuclei (Evstratova et al., 2009). This

mechanism involves the release of AIF, which is translocated from the mitochondrial membrane to the nucleus, inducing DNA degradation.

Estrogen deficient states may partly account for declines in cognition and neurodegeneration that are associated with dementia, such as HAD. The current experiments show estrogen treatment was able to delay the onset of cell death by attenuating Tat- induced apoptotic signaling. Upstream of caspase activation, we also show that Tat- induced increases in expression of Bcl-2 and Bax was reversed by estrogen. Since the Bcl-2 related proteins are made up of a group of apoptosis regulatory genes of which Bcl-2 is anti-apoptotic and Bax is pro-apoptotic, the ratio of Bcl-2 to Bax may determine whether the cells undergo apoptotic cell death or survive the toxic insult. Perhaps a key mechanism by which estrogens augment apoptotic signaling in Tatinduced cell death is by altering this ratio in favor of anti-apoptotic proteins (Zhang et al., 2003). The significant down regulation of proapoptotic protein Bax by estrogen could serve to balance this ratio and normalize mitochondrial function, preventing the release of apoptotic factors and initiation of the caspase cascade. This estrogen effect on Bax along with its effects on Bcl-2 and caspases serves to prolong the compensatory/survival promoting response of cells which corresponds with the significant delay of apoptotic cell death observed with estrogen treatment.

The current experiments show that upregulation of caspases and Bax, Bcl2 expression precede cell death, supporting the observation that Tat-induced cell death was the consequence of activation on the mitochondria-mediated apoptosis pathway. Furthermore, our observations indicate that estrogen protects against Tat-induced apoptosis in primary cortical cultures in part by inhibiting caspase-activation and preventing mitochondrial membrane permeability.

CHAPTER 3

Experiment 2. To determine whether estrogen affects Tat-induced apoptosis through estrogen receptor- mediated mechanisms

3.1. Introduction

Estrogens regulate the expression of a number of target genes by binding the estrogen receptors ER α and ER β , which function as ligand-activated transcription factors (Jover et al., 2002; Morrisette et al., 2008). However, there is still debate about which receptor subtype mediates the protective actions of estrogen (Dubal et al., 2001:2006). Studies have demonstrated that both receptor subtypes are capable of mediating estrogen neuroprotection (Zhao et al., 2004; Miller et al., 2005; Cordey and Pike, 2005; Liu et al., 2005; Zhao and Brinton, 2007). The differential expression and localization of ER isoforms underlies their distinct roles in various biological functions. Distinguishing the role of each receptor isoform in estrogen neuroprotection will assist the development of ER-subtype selective ligands to target the beneficial actions of estrogen and avoid unwanted side effects. In these experiments, we proposed that estrogen attenuation of Tat-induced apoptotic signaling was receptor mediated, furthermore, these estrogen effects are specific to ER-subtype.

3.2. Experimental Design

We investigated if estrogen effects on expression of apoptotic markers in Tat exposed

cortical cultures were estrogen receptor- mediated. We determined if estrogen effects on apoptotic markers were maintained in the presence of non-specific ER antagonist ICI182,780 (100nM), which blocks both ER α and ER β . Additionally, ICI-sensitive apoptotic proteins were further evaluated to determine whether estrogen effects are specific to ER subtype. Specific antagonists of ER α (1000 nM, MPP dihydrochloride) and ER β (1000 nM, PHTPP) were administered 1h before estrogen treatment.

3.3. Materials and Methods

3.3.1 .Immunocytochemistry

For immunocytochemistry experiments, Tat-treated cultures and Estradiol+Tattreated controls were fixed in acetic alcohol (95% ethanol, 5% acetic acid) for 10 min and washed three times (5 min/wash) with Dulbecco phosphate-buffered saline (D-PBS): Na2HPO4 (1150 mg/L), KH2PO4 (200 mg/L), NaCl (8000 mg/L), KCl (200 mg/L) at pH 7.4. Following fixation, cultures were blocked with 10% normal horse serum (NHS) in PBS and used for the analysis.

3.3.2. Anti-ERa and anti-ERß immunofluorescence

Rabbit polyclonal anti-ER α (Santa Cruz) and anti-ER β (Affinity Biosciences) antibodies were used to detect expression of estrogen receptors in nontreated cortical cultures. Primary antibodies were diluted 1:500 in 1% NHS/PBS. Cell cultures were incubated with primary antibodies overnight at 4°C. Each set of experiments included cell
culture dishes which were left without primary antibody. These cell cultures served as controls for non-specific binding of secondary antibodies. After incubation with primary antibodies was complete, plates were washed three times (5 min/wash) with PBS. For the immunofluorescent detection of Tat immunoreactivity goat anti-rabbit IgG conjugated with Alexa 594 dye (Molecular Probes) diluted 1:500 in 1% NHS/PBS was used. Plates were incubated with secondary antibodies for 1h at room temperature and then washed 3 times with PBS. Cells were counterstained with DNA binding fluorescent Hoecsht dye.

3.3.3. Anti-Tat immunofluorescence

Rabbit polyclonal Tat antibody (Diatheva, Italy) was used to determine Tat 1-86 immunoreactivity. Primary antibodies were diluted 1:500 in 1% NHS/PBS. Cell cultures were incubated with primary antibodies overnight at 4°C. Each set of experiments included cell culture dishes which were left without primary antibody. These cell cultures served as controls for non-specific binding of secondary antibodies. After incubation with primary antibodies was complete, plates were washed three times (5min/wash) with PBS. For the immunofluorescent detection of Tat immunoreactivity goat anti-rabbit IgG conjugated with Alexa 594 dye (Molecular Probes) diluted 1:500 in 1% NHS/PBS was used. Plates were incubated with secondary antibodies for 1h at room temperature and then washed 3 times with PBS.

Microscopic images of Tat immunoreactivity in primary cell cultures were captured using the computer-controlled inverted fluorescent microscope (Nikon Eclipse TE2000-E) under 20x magnification and analyzed using NIS-Elements BR 2.30 imaging software package (Nikon). Images of specific Tat immunofluorescence were merged with the subsequent differential interference contrast (DIC) images.

3.3.4. Detection of Apoptotic proteins (ELISA)

Expression of apoptotic signaling proteins in cell lysates was determined by ELISA. Cell lysates were prepared from cultures grown in 24-well plates. Cultures were treated with ICI182,780 (100 nM), MPP (1000 nM), or PHTPP (1000 nM) 1h prior to addition of 17β-estradiol (10 nM). After 24h estradiol pretreatment, cell cultures were exposed to 50nM Tat 1-86 for 4, 16, or 24 hours before harvesting. At the time of harvesting, medium was removed and cells were washed three times with Dulbecco phosphate-buffered saline, D-PBS, (8 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.5 mM KH₂PO₄, 0.137 M NaCl and 2.7 mM KCL at pH 7.4) and lysed with CellLytic TM- M mammalian cell lysis buffer (Sigma Chemicals) containing protease inhibitors (protease inhibitors cocktail, Sigma Chemicals). All samples in a group (6 sister culture wells) were pooled together and protein concentration was determined by BCA method (Pierce). Each well of Costar 96well ELISA plates (Corning Inc, PA) was coated overnight at 4 °C using 100 µl of 20 mM carbonate coating buffer, pH 9.6. Cortical cell lysate samples were diluted 1:10 with D-PBS and 2 ug of each sample were added to the plate wells. After overnight incubation at 4 °C, plates were rinsed 5 times with PBST (0.05% Tween 20 in PBS, pH = 7.4) and blocked with 1% BSA in PBS for 2 h at room temperature. After blocking, plates were washed again as described above and primary anti-Bax, anti-Bcl-2, antiactive Caspase 9 and anti- active Caspase 3 antibodies (all primary antibodies, Abcam, Cambridge, MA) diluted 1:5000 or 1:7500 (caspase 3) in 0.1% BSA-PBST were added to each well except for blanks and no-primary antibody control wells. Plates were kept overnight at 4 °C. When the incubation with primary antibodies was completed, plates were again washed 5 times with PBST and secondary antibodies (goat anti-rabbit alkaline phosphatase conjugated, Sigma) diluted 1: 2000 in 0.1% BSA-PBST were added to each well except for blank and no-secondary antibody control wells. After 2 h of incubation, secondary antibody solution was removed, plates were washed 5 times with PBST and 100 µl of BluePhos phosphatase substrate mixture (KPL Research, Gaithersburg, MD) was added to the plate wells. After 30 min of incubation, the absorbance at 650 nm was determined using a Bio-Tek Synergy HT microplate reader. Multiple readings were taken within a 1-h time period.

3.4. Statistical Analysis

Statistical comparisons were made using one way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison tests to determine specific treatment effects. Significant differences were set at p<0.05. Data represent percent of control values.

3.5. Results

3.5.1. Estrogen receptor expression in cortical cell culture

Estrogen receptor expression was determined in non-treated primary cortical

cultures. Neurons positively stained for anti-ER β and anti-ER α antibodies were present in cortical cultures (**Figure 3.1**). Anti-ER α immunoreactivity was mainly localized in nuclei, while ER β immunofluorescence was also observed in nuclei, however, staining was also detected in cytoplasm with the nuclei unstained.

3.5.2. Estrogen effects on Tat interaction with neuronal membranes

Because neurons are not directly infected with HIV, Tat-induced neuronal apoptosis may be dependent upon Tat binding/interaction with neuronal membranes. The presence of estrogen membrane receptors are generally acknowledged and are thought to mediate estrogen rapid cellular effects. We determined if estrogen attenuation of Tat-induced apoptosis was mediated by preventing or interfering with mechanisms of Tat binding and uptake by neurons in culture. Immunostaining of cell cultures exposed for 2h to 50 nM Tat 1-86 alone or in the presence of 10 nM of 17β-estradiol with anti-Tat antibodies showed the presence of Tat in nuclei, but in some neurons anti-Tat immunofluorescence was localized in somata, leaving nuclei unstained (**Figure 3.2**). Tat immunoreactivity was assessed in estradiol pretreated and Tat-alone treated cultures. Results demonstrate no differences in anti-Tat immunofluorescence was still detected and was comparable to that observed in Tat-alone treated cultures.

3.3.3. Estrogen receptors mediate 17β- estradiol effects against Tat-induced Bax not Bcl-

To determine potential mechanisms of estrogenic action, we investigated the effects of ICI 182780, a specific ER antagonist, on 17 β -estradiol- inhibition of apoptotic protein expression in Tat treated cell cultures. Cell cultures were incubated for 1hr with ICI 182,780 (100nM) before the addition of 17 β -estradiol and then exposed to 50nM Tat 1-86 for 4, and 16 h. The addition of ER antagonist was able to block estrogen protective effects on Tat-induced Bax protein expression (4 h Tat exposure), as Bax levels were similar to that of cultures treated with Tat alone (134±6%, *p*<0.05, compared to Tat+E treated cultures) (**Figure 3.3A**). Results indicate that ICI 182,780 was not able to block estrogen actions on Bcl-2 expression with Tat exposure (16 h) (**Figure 3.3B**). There was no significant difference in Bcl-2 levels in 17 β -estradiol treated and ICI 182,780 treated cortical lysates.

3.3.4. Estrogen receptors mediate 17β -estradiol effects on caspase 3 activity in Tatexposed cortical cultures

We also evaluated if estrogen receptors play a role in regulation of active caspase expression. ICI treatment displayed no effect on active caspase 9 expression at 4h of Tat exposure, as estrogen effects on caspase 9 were maintained, suggesting the estrogen actions on caspase 9 are not receptor-mediated (**Figure 2.4A**). However, estrogen effects on caspase 3 expression were significantly attenuated by ICI treatment. At each time point evaluated, estrogen actions on Tat-induced caspase 3 expression were ICI-sensitive, as caspase levels in ICI treated cultures were not significantly different from those present in cultures treated with Tat alone (Figure 2.4B).

3.3.5. ER subtypes differentially mediate estrogen effects on caspase 3 activity and Bax expression following Tat exposure

We then used ER subtype-selective antagonists to further define whether ER effects were mediated by either ER α and/or ER β . ER α and ER β specific antagonists, MPP dihydrochloride and PHTPP respectively, were added to cultures prior to17 β estradiol treatment. Furthermore, results indicated that the addition of either MPP or PHTPP was unable to attenuate 17 β -estradiol effects on caspase expression, suggesting that 17 β -estradiol actions on Tat-induced caspase expression are mediated by both ER subtypes (**Figure 2.5A**).

In regard to Bax, the addition of MPP only partially attenuated estrogen effects on Bax expression, while the addition of PHTPP markedly abrogated estrogen downregulation of Bax (**Figure 2.5B**).





Figure 3.1. Estrogen receptor expression in primary cortical cultures. Microscopic images of ER α (A) and ER β (B) expression (red fluorescence) in primary cortical cultures. Left panel displays overlap of anti-ER fluorescence and Hoechst nulear stain. Right panels show the individual images of ER expression and nuclear staining. White boxes demonstrate classic nuclear localization of ER α and ER β . In green circles, ER β immunoreactivity was also detected in cytoplasm of some neurons.



Figure 3.2. Image of Tat immunoreactivity in rat fetal cortical cell cultures. Tatimmunopositive cells were detected in cortical cultures pretreated with 10nM 17 β estradiol and/or exposed to 50nM Tat 1-86 for 2h. No differences in Tat immunoreactivity (Red arrows) was detected between estrogen pretreated (B) and Tatalone treated cultures (A). Note not all cells express Tat immunoreactivity (Blue arrows).







3.3. Tat-induced Bax expression sensitive to estrogen receptor -mediated estrogenic actions. A. Estrogen effects on Bax after 4h of Tat exposure were reversed by ICI 182,780, suggesting that estrogenic actions on Bax are mediated by ER signaling. **B.** Estrogen effects on Bcl-2 expression (16h Tat exposure) were not attenuated by the addition of ER antagonist. Experiments performed in triplicate, *p<0.05 as compared to Tat-treated cultures, **p<0.05 compared to Tat treated cultures, #p<0.05 as compared to Tat+E treated cultures.



Β.

Caspase 3



Figure 3.4. Estrogen receptor mediates estrogen effects on Tat-induced Caspase 3 not Caspase 9 active expression. Estrogen receptor antagonist, ICI 182,780, was added to cultures 1h before treatment with 17 β -estradiol. **A.** Estrogen effects on caspase 9 expression (4 h of Tat exposure) were maintained in presence of ER antagonist. **B.** Estrogen effects on Tat-induced expression of caspase 3 were reversed by ICI 182,780, suggesting that estrogenic actions on caspase 3 are ER mediated. Experiments performed in triplicate, *p<0.05 as compared to controls, **p<0.05 as compared to Tat-treated cultures, #p<0.05 as compared to Tat+E treated cultures.



Caspase 3



Tat T/E T/E/I T/E/I T/E/I T/E/P T/E/I







Figure 3.5. Estrogen receptor subtype specific effects against caspase activity and Bax expression. (A.) Estrogen effects against Tat-induced caspase 3 activity were maintained in presence of specific antagonists for ER α (MPP, 100nM) and ER β (PHTPP, 100nM). (B.) ER subtype specific antagonists reveal that ER β mediated signaling preferential for estrogen effects on Bax. Experiments performed in triplicate, *p<0.05 as compared to controls, **p<0.05 as compared to Tat treated cultures, #p<0.05 as compared to Tat+E treated cultures.

3.6. Discussion

Recently, much attention has been given to the neuroprotective properties of estrogens for chronic neurodegenerative diseases. In vivo and in vitro studies show that estrogens can protect against a number of neurotoxic compounds (Green and Simpkins, 2000; Turchan et al., 2001). The mechanisms by which estrogen protects cells can include receptor-mediated and non-receptor-mediated effects. Estrogen receptors are widely expressed in the brain with some regional differences. We demonstrated the presence of estrogen receptors in the primary cortical cultures by immunocytochemistry. We found that estrogen receptors are localized in neurons and display nuclear and cytoplasmic distribution.

Images of Tat immunoreactivity in cultured rat fetal cortical neurons treated with 50nM Tat 1-86 shows that when levels of cell bound Tat was maximal, the culture contained populations of Tat positive and Tat negative neurons. This indicates rat fetal neurons in cell culture may differ in their ability to interact with extracellular Tat. Moreover, this pattern of Tat immunoreactivity did not change in the presence of estrogen. Such observations seem to indicate that membrane actions of estrogen are not involved in its attenuation of Tat-induced cell death, as it does not augment the direct interaction of Tat with neurons.

The direct interaction of Tat with neuronal cell membranes involves binding and uptake into the cell and translocation of Tat into the nuclei. The nuclear localization and Tat transcriptional effects may contribute to neuronal apoptosis. The nucleus represents an ideal site for estrogen protection. Although not assessed in these experiments, the nuclear colocalization of Tat and estrogen receptors supports the notion of direct estrogen effects against Tat induced transcriptional events. And suggests a more classical action of estrogen via its nuclear receptors

It is widely accepted that the biological actions of estrogen are mediated by two different receptor subtypes, ER α and ER β . We next determined that 17 β -estradiol protected against the neurotoxic insult of HIV-1 Tat via an ER-mediated mechanism. Results demonstrate that the addition of a nonspecific ER antagonist ICI 182,780, which blocks both ER α and ER β , attenuated the estrogen down-regulation of Bax and caspase 3 with Tat exposure. Using subtype-specific antagonists we sought to further determine if these estrogen effects were selectively mediated by either ER α and/or ER β . The ER α specific antagonist MPP and ER β -specific antagonist PHTPP did not attenuate the estrogen effects on caspase 3 expression. Our results indicated that estrogen receptormediated effects on Tat-induced caspase 3 expression are not selective to a specific ER subtype. However, estrogen effects on Bax are preferential for ER β mediated signaling, although ER α did contribute to these effects as well.

Estrogen actions on caspase 9 expression and Bcl-2 levels were maintained in presence of antagonists, implying these estrogen actions are not receptor-dependent. These results suggest that ERs may be involved in select aspects of apoptotic signaling. Indeed, a previous report has shown that HIV-1 Tat toxic effects on mitochondria and neuronal cell survival may be independently regulated (Turchan et al., 2001). It seems that estrogens are protective against both mitochondrial dysfunction and cell death by receptor and non-receptor mediated mechanisms. More evidence indicates that in addition to the genomic ER-mediated effects, many effects of estradiol may involve cross talk with other signal transduction pathways (Mhyre & Dorsa, 2006). Estrogen may act via an indirect, non-genomic response involving activation/phosphorylation of Akt which can mediate the anti-apoptotic signaling pathway and involves regulation of the antiapoptotic protein Bcl-2 (Honda et al., 2000; Singh, 2001).

Recent reports are suggesting the mitochondria as a promising target for estrogenmediated protection (Arnold and Beyer, 2009; Klinge, 2008; Simpkins and Dykens, 2008). There is evidence that estrogen receptors and estrogen-binding proteins are located in the mitochondrial matrix or mitochondrial membranes. Activation of the nuclear ERs may directly regulate mitochondria by controlling the transcriptional activity of genes coding for mitochondrial associated proteins (Arnold and Beyer, 2009). The substantial effect of estrogen on Bax expression may relate to the mitochondrial localization of ERs, particularly as a recent study reported that ER β colocalized with a mitochondrial marker in rat primary cortical and hippocampal neurons (Yang et al., 2004).

Exposure to HIV-1 viral proteins initiates a significant toxic cascade that likely involves activation of multiple cell death pathways. It is clear, that estrogen was able to attenuate Tat-induced apoptotic signaling and prolonged cell viability. With the induction of many apoptotic pathways and different factors/mediators of execution, it is difficult to delineate a point of convergence of the various pathways, which would be ideal as a target to interrupt the apoptotic process and support cell survival. However, the ER- β appears to be a primary point for pharmacological targeting.

Although it is popular theory that these apoptotic processes occur in a sequential pattern, this may not be the case in all cell death mechanisms. Disruption of mitochondrial function can kill cells without caspase activation (Hirsch et al., 1997). In contrast, in several cases, caspase inhibition delays and sometimes prevents mitochondrial dysfunction (Hirsch et al., 1997; Susin et al., 1997; Bossy-Wetzel et al., 1998), caspases can cause mitochondrial dysfunction in vitro, and mitochondrial events can cause caspase activation (Zhou et al., 1997;Li et al., 1997; Kluck et al., 1997; Yang et al., 1997). It is plausible that caspase activation and disruption of mitochondrial function occur in a circular feedback loop. In such a scenario, mitochondrial dysfunction would release caspase activators at the same time as caspases might act on mitochondrial membranes. Caspase inhibition might retard but not prevent cell death because it slows down a caspase-dependent self-amplification loop resulting in acceelerated mitochondria dysfunction.

Both mitochondrial membrane function and caspases are crucially involved in cell death and seem to represent key checkpoints in the regulation of cell death. The circular model of apoptotic events reflects our observations of simultaneous upregulation of proapoptotic factors Bax, indicating mitochondria membrane permeability, disruption of mitochondrial membrane potential, and caspase activation early after Tat exposure. More interesting is the specific estrogen receptor mediated effects on Bax expression and caspase 3 activity, further indicating the important role of membrane permeability and execution phase of apoptotic cell death. Caspase-3 is considered to be the most important of the executioner caspases and is activated by any of the initiator caspases.

Additionally, these events might constitute a point of integration of multiple apoptotic pathways as several pro-apoptotic second messengers, including Ca2+ ions, ROS, ceramides, caspases and Bax facilitate their function. Multiple apoptotic pathways end at the point of the execution phase, considered the final pathway of apoptosis.

In summary, the present study suggests the neuroprotective actions of estrogen against HIV-1 Tat-mediated toxic insults involve regulating ER-responsive apoptotic factors. Our results indicated that HIV-1 Tat-mediated cell death induces key regulatory factors of the mitochondria-linked apoptotic pathway. Estrogen treatment was effective in delaying cell death that involved attenuating Tat- induced caspase activity and pro-apoptotic protein expression. The protective estrogenic effect was mediated by an ER-sensitive mechanism specific to Bax and caspase 3. Furthermore, the present study indicated that both ER α and ER β may contribute to the beneficial actions of estrogen, with some selective effects of ER β .

CHAPTER 4

Experiment 3. To determine if phytoestrogens are equally effective as endogenous estrogen against Tat-induced apoptotic signaling.

4.1. Introduction

Since estrogen acts as a neurotrophic and neuroprotective factor, women in a hypoestrogenic state are more vulnerable to neurodegenerative conditions. However, in spite of the beneficial effects of estrogen, hormone therapy is met with resistance due to its association with reproductive and breast cancers. Therefore, there is great need to establish the mechanism(s) underlying estradiol mediated protection. Many studies suggest that estradiol-mediated protection may involve attenuation delayed cell death (Dubal et al., 2006). Estrogen can protect against neuronal apoptosis by regulating caspase activities and expression of anti-apoptotic proteins and maintaining mitochondrial functioning (Wang et al., 2001; Sawada et al., 2000). There is growing interest in the functions of phytoestrogens, such as soy isoflavones (genistein and daidzein), including whether they have beneficial effects on neurodegenerative disease. These soy isoflavones may mimic the actions and functions of estrogen in the brain, as they bind to the estrogen receptor and affect estrogen mediated processes. Several studies have shown that soy isoflavones have neuroprotective effects against various neurotoxic

insults that involved preventing oxidative stress, regulating anti-apoptotic proteins, and reducing caspase activation. In this experiment we propose that phytoestrogens mimic estrogenic actions against Tat-induced apoptotic signaling via a similar ER mediated mechanism.

4.2. Experimental Design

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) was used to quantify levels of apoptotic signaling proteins Bax, Bcl-2, active caspase 9 and active caspase 3 in cortical lysates incubated with phytoestrogens, genistein (GEN), and daidzein (DAI) prior to Tat exposure. Cells were incubated with 17 β -estradiol (10 nM), GEN, or DAI (1000 nM) 24 hours prior to Tat exposure. Tat treated cell cultures were exposed to 50 nM Tat 1-86 for 4, 16, or 24 hours before harvesting. ELISA experiments were performed as described in Experiment 1. We determined if phytoestrogens are as effective as endogenous estrogen, 17 β -estradiol, in attenuating Tat-induced cell death signaling.

4.3. Materials and Methods

4.3.1. Detection of Apoptotic proteins (ELISA)

Expression of apoptotic signaling proteins in cell lysates was determined by ELISA. Cell lysates were prepared from cultures grown in 24-well plates. Tat treated cell cultures were exposed to 50 nM Tat 1-86 for 4, 16, or 24 hours before harvesting. At the time of harvesting, medium was removed and cells were washed three times with Dulbecco phosphate-buffered saline, D-PBS, (8 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.5 mM KH₂PO₄, 0.137

M NaCl and 2.7 mM KCL at pH 7.4) and lysed with CellLytic TM- M mammalian cell lysis buffer (Sigma Chemicals) containing protease inhibitors (protease inhibitors cocktail, Sigma Chemicals). All samples in a group (6 sister culture wells) were pooled together and protein concentration was determined by BCA method (Pierce, Rockford, Ill.). Each well of Costar 96-well ELISA plates (Corning Inc, PA) was coated overnight at 4 °C using 100 µl of 20 mM carbonate coating buffer, pH 9.6. Cortical cell lysate samples were diluted 1:10 with D-PBS and 20ug of each sample were added to the plate wells. After overnight incubation at 4 °C, plates were rinsed 5 times with PBST (0.05% Tween 20 in PBS, pH = 7.4) and blocked with 1% BSA in PBS for 2 h at room temperature. After blocking, plates were washed again, as described above, and primary anti-Bax, anti-Bcl-2, anti- active Caspase 9 and anti- active Caspase 3 antibodies (all primary antibodies, Abcam, Cambridge, MA) diluted 1:5000 or 1:7500 (caspase 3) in 0.1% BSA-PBST were added to each well except for blanks and no-primary antibody control wells. Plates were kept overnight at 4 °C. When the incubation with primary antibodies was completed, plates were again washed 5 times with PBST and secondary antibodies (goat anti-rabbit alkaline phosphatase conjugated, Sigma) diluted 1: 2000 in 0.1% BSA-PBST were added to each well except for blank and no-secondary antibody control wells. After 2 h of incubation, secondary antibody solution was removed, plates were washed 5 times with PBST and 100 μ l of BluePhos phosphatase substrate mixture (KPL Research, Gaithersburg, MD) was added to the plate wells. After 30 min of incubation, the absorbance at 650 nm was determined using a Bio-Tek Synergy HT

microplate reader. Multiple readings were taken within a 1-h time period.

4.4. Statistical Analysis

Statistical comparisons were made using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison tests were used to determine specific treatment effects. Significant differences were set at p<0.05. Data represent percent of control values.

4.5. Results

4.5.1. Effects of genistein and daidzein on Tat-induced caspase activation in primary fetal rat cortical cell cultures

We compared the protective effect of 17 β -estradiol and phytoestrogens genistein (GEN) and daidzein (DAI) in cortical neuronal cultures exposed to 50 nM Tat 1-86. Previous experiments demonstrated that Tat exposure caused a significant increase in caspase 9 activation. Moreover, the addition of 17 β -estradiol was able to significantly attenuate this induction of caspase 9 activity. In the present experiments, we evaluated the protective efficacy of GEN and DAI against Tat-induced upregulation of caspase 9 activity. **Figure 4.1A** shows significant caspase 9 activation following only 4 hr of Tat exposure (*p*<0.05). Preincubation with 10nM estradiol or 1000nM of phytoestrogens genistein (GEN) or daidzein (DAI) prevented the increase in Tat-induced caspase 3 activation. Similar to estradiol, in the presence of genistein or daidzein, the expression of active caspase 9 was diminished by ~20% vs. Tat-alone treated cultures (*p*<0.05). Moreover, analysis revealed that caspase 9 activity was not statistically different between the 17β -estradiol, GEN and DAI pretreated cultures.

In regard to effector caspase 3 activity, a similar effect was observed with phytoestrogen pretreatment prior to Tat exposure. Results demonstrate a significant increase in caspase 3 activation in cortical cultures following 4h exposure to Tat (p<0.05). The addition of 17 β -E2 was able to attenuate the increase in caspase 3 observed with Tat exposure. The current experiments show that the addition of GEN or DAI prior to incubation with 50nM Tat significantly attenuated the upregulation of active caspase 3 expression (p<0.05, **Figure 4.1B**). The level of activation of caspase 3 in GEN and DAI pretreatment groups was not significantly different from that of vehicle-treated controls, furthermore these levels were very similar to that of the endogenous estradiol. These results indicate that isoflavones GEN and DAI downregulate Tat-induced caspase activation to a level comparable to that of 17 β -E2, suggesting that isoflavones and estradiol may share a common neuroprotective mechanism.

4.5.2. Effects of genistein and daidzein on pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins Bax and Bcl-2 upregulation in Tat-exposed primary cortical cell cultures

Bcl-2 is an anti-apoptotic protein, thought to regulate the permeability of the mitochondrial membrane, and prevent the release of apoptotic factors that initiate the caspase cascade leading to cell death. Our prior experiments have shown that incubation with Tat (16 h) caused a significant upregulation of Bcl-2 expression in cortical cell cultures. With the addition of 17β -E2, we observed an attenuation of Tat-induced Bcl-2

expression. Results of the current experiment indicate that similar to estradiol, GEN and DAI significantly attenuated the increase of Bcl-2 expression following Tat exposure (p<0.05). Bcl-2 levels in the estradiol and isoflavone treated cultures were not significantly different from that of vehicle-treated controls, nor was there any statistical difference between the treatment groups.

We also evaluated the efficacy of isoflavones against Tat-induced Bax expression. Bax is a pro-apoptotic protein, that opposes the actions of Bcl-2, that also effects mitochondrial membrane permeability. Over-expression of Bax increases the permeability of the mitochondrial membrane, allowing the release of apoptotic factors which activate the caspase cascade. Results demonstrate that 24h pretreatment with GEN or DAI was able to significantly block the induction of Bax expression following exposure to Tat (p<0.05). In addition, this effect on Bax expression was similar across the 17 β -estradiol, GEN and DAI treatment groups.

4.5.3. Estrogen Receptor-Mediated effects of genistein and daidzein against Tat-induced caspase 3 activation and Bax expression in primary cortical neuronal cultures

As phytoestrogens have been shown to affect estrogenic processes, it is thought that they may act via a similar mechanism as estradiol. Many of estrogens effects are mediated by estrogen receptors, ER α and ER β . The expression of both receptor subtypes has been determined in cortical regions of the human and rat brain, moreover the expression of estrogen receptors has been observed in vitro in cortical cell cultures. In the present experiments, we sought to determine if the protective actions of phytoestrogens against Tat-induced apoptotic process were mediated by estrogen receptors. The ER antagonist, ICI182,780 (ICI,100 nM) was added to cultures 1h prior to incubation with GEN and DAI. Prior experiments have shown that endogenous 17βestradiol effects against caspase 3 were receptor mediated, as the addition of ICI prior to estradiol returned caspase 3 activation levels to that of Tat-alone treated cultures. Results of the current experiments indicate that ICI prevented the downregulation of caspase 3 activation observed with GEN pretreatment (**Figure 4.3A**). Caspase 3 activity in ICI treated cultures was significantly higher than GEN+Tat treated cortical cultures (177 ± 10 vs. 107 ± 8 , p<0.05) and caspase 3 activity was returned to levels similar to that of Tatalone treated cultures. We also observed that DAI effects on caspase 3 were mediated via an ICI-sensitive mechanism. There was a 40% increase in active caspase 3 expression with the addition of ICI compared to DAI+Tat treated cultures (p<0.05). Moreover, caspase 3 activity did not differ statistically from that of Tat-alone treated cultures.

We then evaluated if GEN and DAI effects were specifically selective to ER subtype. The ER-subtype specific antagonists MPP dihydrochloride (ER α) and PHTPP (ER β) (1000 nM) were added to cortical cultures prior to incubation with GEN or DAI and subsequent exposure to 50 nM Tat. The addition of ER α or ER β antagonist did not attenuate the protective effects of GEN or DAI against Tat-induced caspase 3 activation (**Figure 4.4A**). The protective effect of GEN and DAI was maintained in presence of ER α and ER β specific inhibitors. The ER subtype selective antagonists on partially attenuated the down regulation of caspase 3 activation in cultures treated with isoflavones GEN and DAI. Even in the presence of the antagonist a similar effect on caspase activation is seen in GEN and DAI pretreated cultures. Interestingly, no difference in caspase activity is observed between the GEN and DAI treated cultures. Moreover, this profile of caspase activation is quite similar to that observed in 17 β -estradiol treated cultures with the addition of ER subtype antagonists.

We have also previously shown that estrogen downregulation of Tat-induced Bax expression was mediated by estrogen receptors. To evaluate if GEN and DAI effects on Bax expression are ER-mediated, cultures were incubated with the general ER antagonist ICI 182,780 (ICI). ICI exposure blocked GEN and DAI effects against Tat-induced Bax expression. A significant 25% increase in Bax expression was seen with ICI treatment prior to incubation with GEN or DAI (p < 0.05) (Figure 4.3B). We then sought to determine if the protective effects of GEN and DAI against Tat-induced expression of Bax was mediated by a specific ER-subtype. The ER-subtype specific antagonists MPP dihydrochloride (ER α) and PHTPP (ER β) (1000 nM) were added to cortical cultures prior to incubation with GEN or DAI and subsequently exposed to 50 nM Tat. The addition of ERa antagonist MPP attenuated GEN effects on Bax expression, however, GEN downregulation of Bax was markedly abrogated in the presence of ER^β antagonist PHTPP (Figure 4.4B). A similar profile of Bax expression was observed in DAI+Tat treated cultures in the presence of the ER subtype antagonists. The addition of MPP and PHTPP significantly blocked DAI downregulation of Bax expression; however this

suppression of DAI effect was slightly higher in the presence of the ERα antagonist MPP. Although, results suggest that both ER subtypes mediate DAI effects on Bax expression.



Β.







84

A.



Β.

Bax







GEN+T

Bax

DAI+T

EST+T

B.





86



B.





Bax

4.6. Discussion

In the present study, we evaluated the neuroprotective efficacy of phytoestrogens genistein (GEN) and daidzein (DAI) against HIV-1 Tat-triggered mitochondrial-mediated apoptosis pathway. The goal of the present study was to evaluate the protective effect of phytoestrogens on Tat-induced activation of the mitochondrial- mediated apoptotic pathway. The neurotoxic potential of the HIV-1 Tat protein has been well documented in various cell culture models (Bonavia et al., 2001; Aksenov et al., 2006:2009; Adams et al., 2010). Recent studies have indicated that an apoptotic process is involved in Tat – induced cell death. Mitochondria are known to be involved in apoptosis by releasing apoptogenic substances into the cytoplasm to activate the caspase cascade, including key apoptotic initiation caspase 9 and executor caspase 3. We found that exposure to 50nM Tat 1-86 caused significant increases in caspase 9 and caspase 3 activities in primary cortical culture. As observed previously with endogenous 17β -estradiol, phytoestrogens genistein and daidzein prevented the upregulation of caspase activity in Tat-exposed cultures. In addition, upstream of caspase activation, we show that Tat exposure significantly increased expression of pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins Bax and Bcl-2, which regulate mitochondrial membrane permeability and thus, the release of apoptogenic substances. Our results indicate that treatment with phytoestrogens genistein and daidzein also markedly reduced the expression of Bax and Bcl-2 in Tat-exposed cortical cultures. These results indicate that the beneficial/protective effect of genistein and daidzein is via inhibition of the mitochondria-mediated apoptotic pathway.

Both soy isoflavones genistein and daidzein exhibited protective effects similar to that achieved by 17β -estradiol. Since phytoestrogens are able to bind ERs, such actions may be produced through activation of the ER. In the present study, we found that the addition of the non-specific ER antagonist ICI 182,780, which blocks both ER α and ER β , attenuated genistein and daidzein downregulation of caspase 3 and Bax with Tat exposure, suggesting that these effects were mediated by ERs. The addition of ICI had a more robust effect against genistein actions on caspase 3 activity, as levels were nearly the same as that of Tat-alone treated cultures. ICI only partly attenuated the daidzein effects on caspase activation. Furthermore, phytoestrogen effects on Bax expression were also shown to be ER-dependent, as the addition of ICI significantly attenuated genistein and daidzein downregulation of Tat-induced Bax expression. These results suggest that genistein and daidzein act as estrogen receptor agonist in primary cortical neurons and that they may have neuroprotective effects in vivo.

Caspase 3 is a member of the caspase family of proteins that is activated in response to apoptotic signals coming either from the mitochondria via caspase 9 or from death receptor signaling via caspase 8, independent of mitochondria, as well as through other pro-apoptotic pathways inside the cell (Cohen, 1997; Porter and Janicke, 1999). Caspase 3 cleaves a variety of crucial intracellular proteins including endonucleases, cytoskeletal components, and enzymes that lead to characteristic morphology of apoptosis. More upstream, Bax is a proapoptotic Bcl-2 protein. In healthy cells, the majority of Bax is found in the cytosol, but upon initiation of apoptotic signaling, bax undergoes a conformation shift and inserts into the outer mitochondrial membrane. Thus upregulation of Bax is associated with mitochondrial membrane permeabilization and release of pro apoptotic factors from mitochondria, leading to activation of caspases. The reduction of caspase 3 activity and Bax expression by estradiol and phytoestrogens suggest that these compounds disrupt apoptotic signaling by downregulating key pro apoptotic factors in the cell death cascade. As multiple apoptotic pathways converge on mitochondria functioning and caspase 3 activation, Bax and caspase 3 represent potential upstream and downstream check points for the attenuation of apoptosis by estrogenic compounds in response to neurodegenerative insults.

We then sought to determine if these receptor-mediated effects were specific to a particular ER-subtype. The ER α -specific antagonist MPP dihydrochloride and ER β -specific antagonist PHTPP did attenuate genistein and daidzein downregulation of caspase 3 activity. Similar to previous results observed with estradiol, both ER subtypes seem to play a role in genistein and daidzein actions on Tat activation of caspase 3. A comparable profile was observed with genistein effects on Bax in the presence of ER subtype antagonists. Both ER subtypes appear to mediate genistein effects on Bax expression as significant attenuation was achieved with both antagonists. However, a more robust attenuation of genistein effects on Bax expression, even above levels achieved in cultures treated with Tat alone, was observed in the presence of PHTPP. These results indicate that genistein effects on Bax expression may be preferential for ER β -mediated signaling. Our results also demonstrate that significant attenuation of daidzein effects on both ER subtype

antagonists, suggesting involvement of both ER α and ER β in daidzein downregulation of Bax. It is possible that daidzein's lower binding affinity for ERs compared to that of genistein and estradiol may explain the absence of the preferential mediation of a specific ER subtype.

Importance of $ER\beta$

The recent discovery of a second isoform of the estrogen receptor (ER β) has generated intense interest in its potential role in estrogen signaling. In the adult rat, the cerebral cortex appears to predominantly express ER β (Shughrue et al., 1997). Studies using a rat model of stroke found estadiol to ameliorate the tissue loss associated with stroke in the cerebral cortex, initially implicating ER β as the mediator of this protective effect (Dubal et al., 1998). However, studies using transfected cells as well as knockout mice have suggested that ER α . not ER β , mediates protection against toxicity associated with middle cerebral arterial occlusion in addition to other toxic insults including β amyloid toxicity. Some studies have found that ER α does not appear to mediate the protective effects of 17β -estradiol, suggesting that there may be multiple mechanisms mediating estrogenic effects depending on the trigger and specific cellular responsiveness. The present study demonstrates a potential role for ER β in protection. Although both ER subtypes were detected in our cultures, this was not a quantitative measure and it is likely that ER α expression may be very low in our primary cortical cultures as seen in prior studies assessing ER expression on cortical cultures (Linford and Dorsa, 2002). Due to the high ER β presence in the cerebral cortex, combined with the in vitro selectivity of genistein and daidzein for ER β , this subtype likely mediates the protective effects of phytoestrogens. Recent evidence using an ER β mouse knockout model shows that the absence of ER β in development leads to an increase in cortical neuron loss, suggesting that ER β may play an anti-apoptotic role in normal cerebral cortical development (Wang et al., 2001).

Mitochondria have a vital role in neurodegeneration as well as neuroprotective mechanisms. The role of mitochondrial in apoptotic pathways is well established. In addition, recent studies report the ER β is localized in the mitochondrial membrane. Our results suggest that the preferential involvement of ER β - mediated signaling in 17 β - estradiol and genistein effects on Bax may be related to localization of ER β in mitochondria membrane. Estrogen and phytoestrogen attenuation of Tat-induced apoptotic signaling likely occurs via binding of estrogen receptors on the mitochondrial membrane and the direct regulation of proapoptotic proteins.

It is widely accepted that estrogen actions are mediated by its receptors $ER\alpha$ and $ER\beta$. These receptors can exist and act as homodimers as well as heterodimers, suggesting functional interaction between these two ERs (Toran-Allerand et al., 1999). Classical genomic mechanisms of estrogen action may not completely explain the complex and extensive range of estrogen action in the brain. In addition to direct ER mediated effects, the estrogenic response has been shown to interact with many second messengers, which may mediate receptor independent effects. Indirect nongenomic pathways have been shown to mediate estrogenic responses. Estrogenic neuroprotection

has been associated with PI-3 kinase activation, CREB phosphorylation, MAPK activation, and elevation in Bcl-2 mRNA. Additionally it has been determined that estrogenic compounds can confer protection independent of estrogen receptor signaling (Linford and Dorsa, 2002). PI-3 kinase activation and MAPK activation have been directly linked to a reduction in intracellular caspase 3 activity, as well as being downstream of estrogen receptor signaling in neurons (Zhou et al, 2000; Zhang et al., 2001). For instance, the phosphorylation of the ER is now well established and it was shown to modulate ER ability to promote the transcription of estrogen-response-element controlled sequences as well as via the MAP-kinase pathway. In addition, several studies provide evidence for the existence of signal cross-talk between the ER and other second messengers. Although the question of whether phytoestrogens act via the same cellular pathways as estradiol or involve post-transcriptional events and/or membrane effects remains a topic of debate; however, our results have interesting implications in the understanding of the effect of phytoestrogens on brain function.

Studies have indicated that estrogen and phytoestrogens exhibit different effects depending on the concentration. In addition to the genomic and nongenomic mechanisms, these compounds are can act as potent anti-oxidants. Genistein is known to inhibit the activity of tyrosine kinases (Akiyama and Ogawara, 1991) and topoisomerase II (Markovits et al., 1989). However, these effects are thought to occur at high μ M concentrations. Neurotoxic effects of genistein and daidzein were also demonstrated with high doses in range of 50-100 μ M, which are significantly higher than the doses used in the present experiments. Moreover, this antioxidant and tyrosine kinase inhibition

activities usually require higher concentrations than needed for receptor-mediated activity. Our data suggest that there is specific ER modulation of the apoptotic cascade, thus attenuating neuronal cell death, rather than antioxidant or tyrosine kinase inhibition effects.

Soy-derived extract preparations have been the most common form used in phytoestrogen intervention studies. However, variations in relative composition could be significant among soy extracts obtained from different sources of soy plants and manufactured using different protocols, bringing into question the safety and efficacy of random mixtures. The relative content of each isoflavone in soy-derived extract preparations may greatly influence the efficacy and safety phytoestrogen supplements. Although our studies demonstrate that individual isoflavones were capable of producing neuroprotective effects of the same magnitude as estradiol, Some studies suggest that select combination of phytoestrogens can elicit a stronger neuroprotective response and enhance ERβ-binding selectivity (Zhao et al., 2009). With the wide use of phytoestrogen supplements as alternative to hormone therapy, understanding the efficacy of individual isoflavone versus when they are used in combination would be of great value as possible antagonistic interactions could occur in random mixtures from soy extracts.

As estrogen receptors are thought to play a major role in mediating estrogen effects, delineating their role in the neuroprotective versus negative proliferative actions of estrogen remains a central focus of current research. Studies have reported that soy isoflavones preferentially bind ER β over ER α . With the more abundant expression of
ER β in the brain, it is suggested that this ER subtype is more involved in the neuroprotective actions of estradiol and phytoestrogens. The use of an ER β selective agonist represents a viable therapeutic option to elicit the beneficial effects of estrogens without inducing the negative proliferative effects associated with estrogen therapy.

CHAPTER V

General Discussion

Estrogen deficient states may partly account for declines in cognition and neurodegeneration that are associated with dementia, such as HAD. The neuroprotective actions of estrogen have been demonstrated in many experimental models of neurodegenerative disease, including various dementias (Pike et al., 2009; Wilson et al., 2006). However, the mechanisms underlying the beneficial effect of estrogen are not well understood (Green & Simpkins, 2000). It is widely accepted that the biological actions of estrogen are mediated by two different receptor subtypes, ER α and ER β . However, prolonged estrogen therapy is associated with increased risk of uterine and breast cancers. Thus, deciphering the roles of estrogen receptors in estrogenic processes is critical to developing therapeutic approaches that target the beneficial effects of estrogen and avoid unwanted side effects.

The observations that the viral regulatory protein Tat is actively secreted by infected cells, and that Tat mRNA is elevated in the patients with HIV dementia suggest a possible role of extracellular Tat in the progression of HAD. Accordingly, Tat has been shown to have direct toxic effects on neurons that included increased production of ROS indicating oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and apoptotic cell death. The current series of experiments determined the neuroprotective efficacy of endogenous estrogen, 17β -estradiol and phytoestrogens, genistein and daidzein, against HIV-1 Tat induced cell death. The results observed in the present series of experiments, demonstrate a common magnitude of neuroprotective effect of endogenous 17β -estradiol and phytoestrogens, mediated by similar estrogen receptor activation.

Estrogen deficiency is associated with increased risk for dementia such as Alzheimer's disease indicating that estrogens are a key factor in susceptibility to neurodegenerative disease and thus may be essential to neuroprotective processes. In Experiment 1, we demonstrate that estradiol was effective in attenuating HIV-1 Tatinduced cell death. Numerous studies have evaluated the neurotoxic potential of Tat, which includes the induction of apoptotic cell death. However, the mechanism(s) underlying this cell death and the time course of Tat-mediated neurodegeneration is not well-understood. In accordance with previously reported results, that Tat exposure induces mitochondrial dysfunction and production of ROS (Aksenov et al., 2001:2003), we show that apoptotic cell death, as determined by the activation of caspases, was initiated early after Tat exposure. This caspase activity was maintained over 24hrs and preceded the significant loss of cell viability in Tat exposed cultures. Moreover, we demonstrate a direct interaction of Tat with neurons expressing caspase activity. In addition Tat-induced cell death involved the activation of the mitochondria-mediated apoptotic cascade. Key regulators of this cascade such as the proapoptotic protein Bax and active caspase 9 and caspase 3 were increased early after Tat exposure. Estrogen

attenuation of cell death involved down regulation of these mitochondria specific apoptotic markers. Such observations support the findings that that estrogen is protective against oxidative stress-mediated apoptosis.

Many of the physiological actions of estrogens are mediated by the two estrogen receptor subtypes, ER α and ER β that belong to the nuclear receptor superfamily. The differential expression and distribution of the ERs play a major role in the many physiological processes mediated by estrogens. However, estrogen therapy is associated with negative side effects, mainly increased risk of ovarian and breast cancer. Delineating the mechanisms underlying the actions of estrogen will be essential in targeting its beneficial effects with minimal side effects. This experiment illustrates the ability of 17β -estradiol to attenuate some aspects of Tat-induced apoptotic cell death. Since estradiol pretreatment was able to downregulate the expression/activity of mitochondria specific apoptotic markers, this supports a strong role for genomic effects in estradiolmediated attenuation of the mitochondrial apoptotic cascade. Our experiments evaluating the mechanism of estradiol neuroprotection against Tat-induced neurodegeneration reveal that ERs mediate select aspects of apoptotic cascade. Particularly, estrogen receptors mediate the pro-apoptotic protein Bax expression, which along with Bcl-2, monitors mitochondria membrane permeability, and capsase 3, an effector caspase. This indicates that mitochondria membrane function and the execution phase of the apoptotic cascade represent key targets of apoptotic intervention. We also demonstrate the differential involvement of ER subtypes in mediating estrogen effects. Both ER subtypes seem to

play a role in estrogen effects on caspase 3 while estrogen effects on Bax expression are mediated more so by ER β . The ER β specific effects on Bax, may be related to the recent discovery of ER β localization in mitochondria, suggesting a direct estrogen effect on mitochondria function via ER β activation and signaling.

The functions of ER β are of particular importance in understanding the neuroprotective strategies exhibited by estrogen. It has become clear that ER β has functions that are distinct from those of ER α . Studies in ER knockout mice indicate that ER α is the main player in mediating female reproductive functions whereas ER β is more important in non-classical target tissues, such as central nervous systems (Harris, 2007). Targeting ER β function may be a potential therapeutic option in neurodegenerative disease, since it is highly expressed in the brain, specifically in cortical regions responsible for executive cognitive functioning, which is significantly affected in HIV-1 associated neurocognitive disorders (HAND).

Further experiments sought to evaluate if potential ER β selective agonists are equally effective as endogenous estradiol against Tat-induced apoptotic cell death. Phytoestrogens are plant-derived nonsteroidal compounds that are structurally similar to estrogens and thus induce estrogenic responses. Since the discovery that phytoestrogens can bind and activate ER, particularly interesting was the finding that many phytoestrogens bind with a higher affinity to ER β compared to ER α , suggesting that they may induce physiological effects through this ER subtype. We observe that phytoestrogens genistein and daidzein exhibit a similar magnitude of protection as estradiol against Tat-induced apoptotic cell death. Genistein and daidzein significantly attenuated the expression of apoptotic markers specific to the mitochondria apoptotic pathway. Moreover these effects were also mediated by estrogen receptors. However, receptor mediated effects of genistein were more similar to estradiol than daidzein. These observations indicate that phytoestrogens attenuate Tat-induced cell death at a comparable magnitude and via estrogen receptor signaling. In addition, genistein closely modeled the receptor-mediated effects of estradiol, unlike daidzein.

Although phytoestrogens are thought to preferentially bind ER β , the degree to which a compound binds the ER may not necessarily reflect its ability of activate ER signaling. In a study using radioligand binding assay, genistein was shown to have a higher binding affinity than daidzein for ER β and have a higher/stronger transcriptional potency. Of note is that the concentrations of phytoestrogen required to activate transcription through both ER α and ER β are generally 1 μ M or less, which are concentrations physiologically achievable in humans after consumption of phytoestrogen rich foods or supplements. In tissues, expressing both ER subtypes activation of ER α and ER β may occur.

It should be considered that even though the individual purified phytoestrogens and their metabolites can bind and activate ERs, in regard to human exposure to phytoestrogens do not represent single compounds, but a mixture of different phytoestrogens and metabolites. The mixtures may induce different physiological effects compared to a single phytoestrogenic compound. A recent study found that a select combination of phytoestrogens may enhance ER β activation and binding. It was shown that when genistein, daidzein, and equol were combined, the selectivity for ER β binding increased, compared to genistein alone (Zhao et al.,2009). Moreover, the effects of these combinations in cells coexpressing ER α and ER β may also display differential transcriptional activity when exposed to mixtures of different phytoestrogens.

In addition to neuronal loss, synaptodendritic pruning has also been implicated to underlie the cognitive dysfunction observed with HIV infection in the CNS. Studies have shown that Tat exposure caused loss of synapses before cell death was observed. Moreover, in contrast to cell death, synaptic degradation can be reversed. Future investigations should consider if estradiol and phytoestrogen protective effects against Tat induced neurodegeneration involves preservation of neuronal networks and synaptic density. Furthermore, to better model human consumption of soy products and easily available supplements, a combination of phytoestrogens should be used to determine their effects against neurogenerative insults.

With the success of HAART on viral suppression, viral production still persists in the brain, allowing the continued release and exposure to toxic viral proteins. The inability of anti-retroviral therapy to prevent the development of cognitive dysfunction indicates the need for alternative therapies that may ameliorate the neurodegenerative and subsequent neurologocial disturbances associated with NeuroAIDS. Findings in the present study demonstrate that phytoestrogens offer a similar magnititude of protective effect as endogenous estradiol via a selective estrogen receptor -mediated mechanism against HIV-1 Tat-induced cell death. Phytoestrogens, acting as selective ER agonists targeting the neuroprotective effects associated with estradiol, may be represent a viable adjuvant therapy with HAART combat NeuroAIDS.

References

Adams SM, Aksenova MV, Aksenov MY, Mactutus CF, Booze RM, 2010. ER-beta mediates 17beta-estradiol attenuation of HIV-1 Tat-induced apoptotic signaling. Synapse.

Adlercreutz H, Mazur W, 1997. Phyto-oestrogens and Western diseases. Ann Med 29: 95-120.

Aenlle KK, Kumar A, Cui L, Jackson TC, Foster TC, 2009. Estrogen effects on cognition and hippocampal transcription in middle-aged mice. Neurobiol Aging 30: 932-945.

Akiyama T, Ogawara H, 1991. Use and specificity of genistein as inhibitor of proteintyrosine kinases. Methods Enzymol 201: 362-370.

Aksenov MY, Hasselrot U, Bansal AK, Wu G, Nath A, Anderson C, Mactutus CF, Booze RM, 2001a. Oxidative damage induced by the injection of HIV-1 Tat protein in the rat striatum. Neurosci. Lett. 305: 5-8.

Aksenov MY, Hasselrot U, Wu G, Nath A, Anderson C, Mactutus CF, Booze RM, 2003. Temporal relationships between HIV-1 Tat-induced neuronal degeneration, OX-42 immunoreactivity, reactive astrocytosis, and protein oxidation in the rat striatum. Brain Res. 987: 1-9.

Aksenova MV, Aksenov MY, Adams SM, Mactutus CF, Booze RM, 2009. Neuronal survival and resistance to HIV-1 Tat toxicity in the primary culture of rat fetal neurons. Exp Neurol 215: 253-263.

Alkayed NJ, Murphy SJ, Traystman RJ, Hurn PD, Miller VM, 2000. Neuroprotective Effects of Female Gonadal Steroids in Reproductively Senescent Female Rats Editorial Comment. Stroke 31:161-168.

Amantea D, Russo R, Bagetta G, Corasaniti MT. 2005. From clinical evidence to molecular mechanisms underlying neuroprotection afforded by estrogens. Pharmacol Res 52: 119-132.

Ances BM, Ellis RJ. 2007. Dementia and neurocognitive disorders due to HIV-1 infection. Semin Neurol 27: 86-92.

Ances BM, Vaida F, Yeh MJ, Liang CL, Buxton RB, Letendre S, McCutchan JA, Ellis RJ, 2010. HIV infection and aging independently affect brain function as measured by functional magnetic resonance imaging. J Infect. Dis. 201: 336-340.

Archibald SL, Masliah E, Fennema-Notestine C, Marcotte TD, Ellis RJ, McCutchan JA,

Heaton RK, Grant I, Mallory M, Miller A, Jernigan TL, 2004. Correlation of in vivo neuroimaging abnormalities with postmortem human immunodeficiency virus encephalitis and dendritic loss. Arch. Neurol 61: 369-376.

Arendt G, 1995. Imaging methods as a diagnostic tool in neuro-AIDS. A review. Bildgebung 62: 310-319.

Arendt G, Nolting T, 2008. [Neurological complications of HIV infection]. Nervenarzt 79: 1449-1462.

Arnold S, Beyer C. 2009. Neuroprotection by estrogen in the brain: the mitochondrial compartment as presumed therapeutic target. J Neurochem 110: 1-11.

Aversa TGD, Yu KO, Berman JW (2004) Expression of chemokines by human fetal microglia after treatment with the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 protein Tat. Journal of Neurovirology 10:86-97.

Ba F, Pang PK, Davidge ST, Benishin CG, 2004. The neuroprotective effects of estrogen in SK-N-SH neuroblastoma cell cultures. Neurochem Int 44: 401-411.

Bansal AK, Mactutus CF, Nath A, Maragos W, Hauser KF, Booze RM (2000) Neurotoxicity of HIV-1 proteins gp120 and Tat in the rat striatum. Brain Research 879:42-49.

Bayir H, Marion DW, Puccio AM, Wisniewski SR, Janesko KL, Clark RS, Kochanek PM, 2004. Marked gender effect on lipid peroxidation after severe traumatic brain injury in adult patients. J Neurotrauma 21: 1-8.

Behl C, Widmann M, Trapp T, Holsboer F, 1995. 17beta-estradiol protects neurons from oxidative stress-induced cell death in vitro. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 216: 473-482.

Berger JR, Nath A, Greenberg RN, Andersen AH, Greene RA, Bognar A, Avison MJ, 2000. Cerebrovascular changes in the basal ganglia with HIV dementia. Neurology 54: 921-926.

Beyer C, Karoiczak M, 2000. Estrogenic stimulation of neurite growth in midbrain dopaminergic neurons depends on cAMP/protein kinase A signaling. J Neurosci Res 59: 107-116.

Bonavia R, Bajetto A, Barbero S, Albini A, Noonan DM, Schettini G. 2001. HIV-1 tat causes apoptotic death and calcium homeostasis alterations in rat neurons. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun 288(2): 301-308.

Borgatti P, Zauli G, Cantley LC, Capitani S, 1998. Extracellular HIV-1 Tat Protein Induces a Rapid and Selective Activation of Protein Kinase C (PKC)-[alpha], -[epsilon], and -[zeta] Isoforms in PC12 Cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 242:332-337.

Bornstein RA, Chakeres D, Brogan M, Nasrallah HA, Fass RJ, Para M, Whitacre C, 1992. Magnetic resonance imaging of white matter lesions in HIV infection. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 4: 174-178.

Borrβs C, Gambini J, Lpez-Grueso R, Pallard FV, Via J, 2010. Direct antioxidant and protective effect of estradiol on isolated mitochondria. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease 1802: 205-211.

Boska MD, Mosley RL, Nawab M, Nelson JA, Zelivyanskaya M, Poluektova L, Uberti M, Dou H, Lewis TB, Gendelman HE, 2004. Advances in neuroimaging for HIV-1 associated neurological dysfunction: clues to the diagnosis, pathogenesis and therapeutic monitoring. Curr. HIV. Res 2: 61-78.

Bourque M, Dluzen DE, Di PT, 2009. Neuroprotective actions of sex steroids in Parkinson's disease. Front Neuroendocrinol. 30: 142-157.

Bouvard S, Faure P, Roucard C, Favier A, Halimi S, 2002. Characterization of free radical defense system in high glucose cultured HeLa-tat cells: consequences for glucose-induced cytotoxicity. Free Radic Res 36: 1017-1022.

Boven LA, Gomes L, Hery C, Gray F, Verhoef J, Portegies P, Tardieu M, Nottet HS, 1999. Increased peroxynitrite activity in AIDS dementia. J. Immunol. 162: 4319-4327.

Bozzo C, Graziola F, Chiocchetti A, Canonico PL, 2010. Estrogen and beta-amyloid toxicity: Role of integrin and PI3-K. Mol Cell Neurosci.

Branca F, Lorenzetti S, 2005. Health effects of phytoestrogens. Forum Nutr 57: 100-111.

Briehl MM, Baker AF, 1996. Modulation of the antioxidant defence as a factor in apoptosis. Cell Death Differ 3: 63-70.

Brinton RD, 2001. Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms of Estrogen Regulation of Memory Function and Neuroprotection Against Alzheimer's Disease: Recent Insights and Remaining Challenges. Learn. Mem. 8: 121-133.

Brinton RD, 2008. Estrogen regulation of glucose metabolism and mitochondrial function: therapeutic implications for prevention of Alzheimer's disease.

Butterfield DA, Stadtman ER, 1997. Protein oxidation processes in aging brain. Adv Cell Aging Gerontol 2: 161-191.

Butterfield DA, 1997. β-Amyloid-Associated Free Radical Oxidative Stress and

Neurotoxicity: Implications for Alzheimer's Disease. Chemical Research in Toxicology 10:495-506.

Callier S, Morissette M, Grandbois M, Pelaprat D, Di PT, 2001. Neuroprotective properties of 17beta-estradiol, progesterone, and raloxifene in MPTP C57Bl/6 mice. Synapse 41: 131-138.

Carbonaro V, Caraci F, Giuffrida ML, Merlo S, Canonico PL, Drago F, Copani A, Sortino MA, 2009. Enhanced expression of ERalpha in astrocytes modifies the response of cortical neurons to beta-amyloid toxicity. Neurobiol Dis. 33: 415-421.

Castagna A, Le Grazie C, Accordini A, Giulidori P, Cavalli G, Bottiglieri T, Lazzarin A, 1995. Cerebrospinal fluid S-adenosylmethionine (SAMe) and glutathione concentrations in HIV infection: effect of parenteral treatment with SAMe. Neurology 45: 1678-1683.

Chan SS, Santos JH, Meyer JN, Mandavilli BS, Cook DL, Jr., McCash CL, Kissling GE, Nyska A, Foley JF, van HB, Copeland WC, Walker VE, Witt KL, Bishop JB, 2007. Mitochondrial toxicity in hearts of CD-1 mice following perinatal exposure to AZT, 3TC, or AZT/3TC in combination. Environ. Mol Mutagen. 48: 190-200.

Chang HC, Samaniego F, Nair BC, Buonaguro L, Ensoli B, 1997. HIV-1 Tat protein exits from cells via a leaderless secretory pathway and binds to extracellular matrix-associated heparan sulfate proteoglycans through its basic region. AIDS 11.

Chang L, Ernst T, Witt MD, Ames N, Gaiefsky M, Miller E, 2002. Relationships among brain metabolites, cognitive function, and viral loads in antiretroviral-naive HIV patients. Neuroimage. 17: 1638-1648.

Chen X, Li Y, Kline AE, Dixon CE, Zafonte RD, Wagner AK, 2005. Gender and environmental effects on regional brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression after experimental traumatic brain injury. Neuroscience 135: 11-17.

Chen JQ, Cammarata PR, Baines CP, Yager JD, 2009. Regulation of mitochondrial respiratory chain biogenesis by estrogens/estrogen receptors and physiological, pathological and pharmacological implications. Biochim Biophys Acta 1793:1540-1570.

Chiang FL, Walot I, Sinow RM, Mehringer CM, 1998. Diagnostic imaging of the brain in acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). Semin. Ultrasound CT MR 19: 133-153.

Choi J, Liu RM, Kundu RK, Sangiorgi F, Wu W, Maxson R, Forman HJ, 2000. Molecular mechanism of decreased glutathione content in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat-transgenic mice. J Biol Chem 275: 3693-3698.

Chung WC, Pak TR, Suzuki S, Pouliot WA, Anderson ME, Handa RJ, 2007. Detection and localization of an estrogen receptor beta splice variant protein (ERbeta2) in the adult

female rat forebrain and midbrain regions. J Comp Neurol 505: 249-267.

Collins ML, Sondel N, Cesar D, Hellerstein MK, 2004. Effect of nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors on mitochondrial DNA synthesis in rats and humans. J Acquir. Immune. Defic. Syndr. 37: 1132-1139.

Correia SC, Santos RX, Cardoso S, Carvalho C, Santos MS, Oliveira CR, Moreira PI, 2010. Effects of estrogen in the brain: is it a neuroprotective agent in Alzheimer's disease? Curr. Aging Sci 3: 113-126.

Costa MM, Reus V, Wolkowitz OM, Manfredi F, Lieberman M, 1999. Estrogen replacement therapy and cognitive decline in memory-impaired post-menopausal women. Biol Psychiatry 46: 182-188.

Costello D, Davis J, Venna N, 2007. HIV infection with immunodeficiency presenting with subacute cognitive decline: recent illustrative cases. CNS. Spectr. 12: 842-850.

Dal Pan GJ, McArthur JH, Aylward E, Selnes OA, Nance-Sproson TE, Kumar AJ, Mellits ED, McArthur JC, 1992. Patterns of cerebral atrophy in HIV-1-infected individuals: results of a quantitative MRI analysis. Neurology 42: 2125-2130.

Danial NN, Korsmeyer SJ. 2004. Cell death: critical control points. Cell 116: 205-219.

Descamps M, Hyare H, Stebbing J, Winston A, 2008. Magnetic resonance imaging and spectroscopy of the brain in HIV disease. J HIV. Ther. 13: 55-58.

Dewey J, Hana G, Russell T, Price J, McCaffrey D, Harezlak J, Sem E, Anyanwu JC, Guttmann CR, Navia B, Cohen R, Tate DF, 2010. Reliability and validity of MRI-based automated volumetry software relative to auto-assisted manual measurement of subcortical structures in HIV-infected patients from a multisite study. Neuroimage. 51: 1334-1344.

Dewhurst S, Gelbard HA, Fine SM, 1996. Neuropathogenesis of AIDS. Mol. Med. Today 2: 16-23.

Di S, V, Mackay RD, Meyerhoff DJ, Norman D, Weiner MW, Fein G, 1997. Brain atrophy in HIV infection is more strongly associated with CDC clinical stage than with cognitive impairment. J Int Neuropsychol. Soc 3: 276-287.

Dluzen DE, 2000. Neuroprotective effects of estrogen upon the nigrostriatal dopaminergic system. J Neurocytol. 29: 387-399.

Duffy C, Cyr M, 2003. Phytoestrogens: potential benefits and implications for breast

cancer survivors. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 12: 617-631.

Ellis RJ, Deutsch R, Heaton RK, Marcotte TD, McCutchan JA, Nelson JA, et al. 1997. Neurocognitive impairment is an independent risk factor for death in HIV infection. San Diego HIV Neurobehavioral Research Center Group. Arch. Neurol. 54: 416-424.

Elovaara I, Poutiainen E, Raininko R, Valanne L, Virta A, Valle SL, Lahdevirta J, Iivanainen M, 1990. Mild brain atrophy in early HIV infection: the lack of association with cognitive deficits and HIV-specific intrathecal immune response. J Neurol Sci 99: 121-136.

Ensoli B, Buonaguro L, Barillari G, Fiorelli V, Gendelman R, Morgan RA, Wingfield P, Gallo RC, 1993. Release, uptake, and effects of extracellular human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat protein on cell growth and viral transactivation. J Virol 67: 277-287.

Ernst T, Chang L, Jovicich J, Ames N, Arnold S, 2002. Abnormal brain activation on functional MRI in cognitively asymptomatic HIV patients. Neurology 59: 1343-1349.

Estratova AA, Mironova EV, Dvoretskova EA, Antonov SM. 2009. Apoptosis and the receptor specificity of its mechanisms during the neurotoxic action of glutamate. Neurosci. Behav. Physiol. 39: 353-362.

Eugenin EA, King JE, Nath A, Calderon TM, Zukin RS, Bennett MV, Berman JW.2007. HIV-tat induces formation of an LRP-PSD-95-NMDAR-nNOS complex that promotes apoptosis in neurons and astrocytes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104: 3438-3443.

Everall IP, Luthert PJ, Lantos PL.1991. Neuronal loss in the frontal cortex in HIV infection. Lancet 337: 1119-1121.

Everall IP, Luthert PJ, Lantos PL.1993. Neuronal number and volume alterations in the neocortex of HIV infected individuals. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 56: 481-186.

Farzadegan JH, Hoover DR, Astemborski J, Lyles CM, Margolick JB, Markham RB, Quinn TC, Vlahov D.1998. Sex differences in HIV-1 viral load and progression to AIDS. Lancet 352: 1510-1514.

Farooque M, Suo Z, Arnold PM, Wulser MJ, Chou CT, Vancura RW, Fowler S, Festoff BW, 2006. Gender-related differences in recovery of locomotor function after spinal cord injury in mice. Spinal Cord. 44: 182-187.

File SE, Jarret N, Fluck E, Duffy R, Casey K, Wiseman H, 2001. Eating soya improves human memory. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 157:430-436.

Fischer CP, Gundersen HJG, Pakkenberg B.1999. Preferential loss of large neocortical neurons during HIV infection: a study of the size distribution of neocortical neurons in

the human brain. Brain Res. 828: 119-126.

Flores SC, Marecki JC, Harper KP, Bose SK, Nelson SK, McCord JM, 1993. Tat protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 represses expression of manganese superoxide dismutase in HeLa cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 90: 7632-7636.

Gandhi M, Bacchetti P, Miotti P, Quinn TC, Veronese F, Greenblatt RM. 2002. Does patient sex affect human immunodeficiency virus levels? Clin Infect. Dis 35: 313-322.

Garden GA, Budd SL, Tsai E, Hanson L, Kaul M, D'Emilia DM, Friedlander RM, Yuan J, Masliah E, Lipton SA.2002. Caspase cascades in human immunodeficiency virusassociated neurodegeneration. J. Neurosci 22: 4015-4024.

Genazzani AR, Pluchino N, Luisi S, Luisi M, 2007. Estrogen, cognition and female ageing. Hum. Reprod. Update. 13: 175-187.

Gil L, Martinez G, Gonzalez I, Tarinas A, Alvarez A, Giuliani A, Molina R, Tapanes R, Perez J, Leon OS, 2003. Contribution to characterization of oxidative stress in HIV/AIDS patients. Pharmacol. Res. 47: 217-224.

Gilad J, Walfisch A, Borer A, Schlaeffer F. 2003. Gender difference and sex-specific manifestations associated with human immunodeficiency virus infection in women. Eur. J. Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 109: 199-205.

Gongvatana A, Schweinsburg BC, Taylor MJ, Theilmann RJ, Letendre SL, Alhassoon OM, Jacobus J, Woods SP, Jernigan TL, Ellis RJ, Frank LR, Grant I, 2009. White matter tract injury and cognitive impairment in human immunodeficiency virus-infected individuals. J Neurovirol. 15: 187-195.

Gonzalez-Scarano F, Martin-Garcia J, 2005. The neuropathogenesis of AIDS. Nat Rev Immunol 5:69-81.

Gordon KB, Macrae IM, Carswell HV, 2005. Effects of 17beta-oestradiol on cerebral ischaemic damage and lipid peroxidation. Brain Res. 1036: 155-162.

Gorosito SV, Lorenzo AG, Cambiasso MJ, 2008. Estrogen receptor alpha is expressed on the cell surface on embryonic hypothalamic neurons. Neuroscience 154: 1173-1177.

Grant I, Atkinson JH, Hesselink JR, Kennedy CJ, Richman DD, Spector SA, McCutchan JA, 1987. Evidence for early central nervous system involvement in the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) and other human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infections. Studies with neuropsychologic testing and magnetic resonance imaging. Ann Intern Med 107: 828-836.

Gray F, Chretien F, Vallat-Decouvelaere AV, Scaravilli F, 2003. The changing pattern of

HIV neuropathology in the HAART era. J Neuropathol. Exp Neurol 62: 429-440.

Gray F, dle-Biassette H, Brion F, Ereau T, le M, I, Levy V, Corcket G, 2000. Neuronal apoptosis in human immunodeficiency virus infection. J. Neurovirol. 6 Suppl 1: S38-S43.

Gray F, dle-Biassette H, Chretien F, Lorin de la GG, Force G, Keohane C, 2001. Neuropathology and neurodegeneration in human immunodeficiency virus infection. Pathogenesis of HIV-induced lesions of the brain, correlations with HIV-associated disorders and modifications according to treatments. Clin. Neuropathol. 20: 146-155.

Green D, Kroemer G. 1998. The central executioners of apoptosis: caspases or mitochondria? Trends Cell Biol 8: 267-271.

Green DR, Kroemer G. 2004. The pathophysiology of mitochondria cell death. Science 305: 626-629.

Green PS, Simpkins JW. 2000. Neuroprotective effects of estrogens: potential mechanisms of action. Int. J. Dev. Neurosci 18: 347-358.

Green K, Brand MD, Murphy MP, 2004. Prevention of Mitochondrial Oxidative Damage as a Therapeutic Strategy in Diabetes. Diabetes 53:S110-S118.

Gruber CJ, Tschugguel W, Schneeberger C, Huber JC, 2002b. Production and Actions of Estrogens. N Engl J Med 346: 340-352.

Gruber CJ, Tschugguel W, Schneeberger C, Huber JC, 2002a. Production and Actions of Estrogens. N Engl J Med 346: 340-352.

guado-Llera D, rilla-Ferreiro E, Chowen JA, Argente J, Puebla-Jimenez L, Frago LM, Barrios V, 2007. 17Beta-estradiol protects depletion of rat temporal cortex somatostatinergic system by beta-amyloid. Neurobiol Aging 28: 1396-1409.

Haughey NJ, Holden CP, Nath A, Geiger JD, 1999. Involvement of inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate-regulated stores of intracellular calcium in calcium dysregulation and neuron cell death caused by HIV-1 protein tat. J Neurochem 73: 1363-1374.

Haughey NJ, Mattson MP, 2002. Calcium dysregulation and neuronal apoptosis by the HIV-1 proteins Tat and gp120. J Acquired Immune Defic Syndr 31: S55-S61.

Haughey NJ, Cutler RG, Tamara A, McArthur JC, Vargas DL, Pardo CA, Turchan J, Nath A, Mattson MP, 2004. Perturbation of sphingolipid metabolism and ceramide production in HIV-dementia. Ann. Neurol. 55: 257-267.

Haughey NJ, Nath A, Mattson MP, Slevin JT, Geiger JD. 2001. HIV-1 tat through phosphorylation of NMDA receptors potentiates glutamate excitoxicity. J. Neurochem

78(3): 457-467.

Herbison AE, 1998. Multimodal Influence of Estrogen upon Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Neurons. Endocr Rev 19:302-330.

Herzenberg LA, De Rosa SC, Dubs JG, Roederer M, Anderson MT, Ela SW, Deresinski SC, Herzenberg LA, 1997. Glutathione deficiency is associated with impaired survival in HIVTÇëdisease. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 94:1967-1972.

Honda K, Shimohama S, Sawada H, Kihara T, Nakamizo T, Shibasaki H, Akaike A. 2001. Nongenomic antiapoptotic signal transduction by estrogen in cultured cortical neurons. J Neurosci Res 64: 466-475.

Honda K, Sawada H, Kihara T, Urushitani M, Nakamizo T, Akaike A, Shimohama S. 2000. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase mediates neuroprotection by estrogen in cultured cortical neurons. J Neurosci. Res 60: 321-327.

Hosoda T, Nakajima H, Honjo H. 2001. Estrogen protects neuronal cells from amyloid beta-induced apoptotic cell death. Neuroreport 12: 1965-1970.

Ho EL, Jay CA, 2010. Altered mental status in HIV-infected patients. Emerg. Med Clin North Am. 28: 311-323,

Hudson L, Liu J, Nath A, Jones M, Raghavan R, Narayan O, Male D, Everall I. 2000. Detection of the human immunodeficiency virus regulatory protein tat in CNS tissues. J Neurovirol 6: 145-155.

Hulgan T, Morrow J, DΓÇÖAquila R, Raffanti S, Morgan M, Rebeiro P, Haas D (2003) Oxidant Stress Is Increased during Treatment of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection. Clinical Infectious Diseases 37:1711-1717.

Ishunina TA, Swaab DF, 2008. Estrogen receptor-alpha splice variants in the human brain. Gynecol Endocrinol 24: 93-98.

James AM, Murphy MP, 2002. How mitochondrial damage affects cell function. J Biomed Sci. 9: 475-487.

Johnson T, Nath A, 2010. Neurological complications of immune reconstitution in HIVinfected populations. Ann N Y. Acad Sci 1184: 106-120.

Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. 2008 AIDS Epidemic update: latest development in the global AIDS epidemic. Geneva: UNAIDS, 2008.

Jones G, Power C. Regulation of neural cell survival by HIV-1 infection. 2006. Neurobiol. Dis 21: 1-17. Kendall SL, Anderson CF, Turchan-Cholewo J, Land CL, Mactutus CF, Booze RM. 2005. Gonadal steroids differentially modulate neurotoxicity of HIV and cocaine: testosterone and ICI 182,780 sensitive mechanism, BMC Neurosci. 6:40.

Ketzler S, Weis S, Haug H, Budka H, 1990. Loss of neurons in the frontal cortex in AIDS brains. Acta Neuropathol. 80: 92-94.

Kian Tee M, Rogatsky I, Tzagarakis-Foster C, Cvoro A, An J, Christy RJ, Yamamoto KR, Leitman DC, 2004. Estradiol and selective estrogen receptor modulators differentially regulate target genes with estrogen receptors alpha and beta. Mol Biol Cell 15: 1262-1272.

Kim HJ, Martemyanov KA, Thayer SA. 2008. Human immunodeficiency virus protein Tat induces synapses loss via a reversible process that is distinct from cell death. J Neurosci 28: 12604-12613.

King JE, Eugenin EA, Buckner CM, Berman JW. 2006. HIV tat and neurotoxicity. Microbes Infect 8: 1347-1357.

Klinge CM. 2008. Estrogenic control of mitochondrial function and biogenesis. J. Cell. Biochem 105: 1342-1351.

Kohler JJ, Cucoranu I, Fields E, Green E, He S, Hoying A, Russ R, Abuin A, Johnson D, Hosseini SH, Raper CM, Lewis W, 2009. Transgenic mitochondrial superoxide dismutase and mitochondrially targeted catalase prevent antiretroviral-induced oxidative stress and cardiomyopathy. Lab Invest 89: 782-790.

Kroemer G, Galluzi L, Brenner C. 2007. Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization in cell death. Physiol Rev 87: 99-163.

Kruman II, Nath A, Mattson MP. 1998. HIV-1 protein tat induces apoptosis of hippocampal neurons by a mechanism involving caspase activation, calcium overload, and oxidative stress. Exp. Neurol. 154: 276-288.

Kruman II, Nath A, Mattson MP, 1998. HIV-1 protein Tat induces apoptosis of hippocampal neurons by a mechanism involving caspase activation, calcium overload, and oxidative stress. Exp. Neurol. 154: 276-288.

Kruman II, Nath A, Maragos WF, Chan SL, Jones M, Rangnekar VM, Jakel RJ, Mattson MP, 1999. Evidence that Par-4 Participates in the Pathogenesis of HIV Encephalitis. Am J Pathol 155:39-46.

Kuiper GGJM, Carlsson B, Grandien K, Enmark E, Haggblad J, Nilsson S, Gustafsson JA, 1997. Comparison of the Ligand Binding Specificity and Transcript Tissue Distribution of Estrogen Receptors {alpha} and {beta}. Endocrinology 138: 863-870.

Kushner PJ, Agard DA, Greene GL, Scanlan TS, Shiau AK, Uht RM, Webb P, 2000. Estrogen receptor pathways to AP-1. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 74: 311-317.

Lewis W (2003) Mitochondrial DNA replication, nucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitors, and AIDS cardiomyopathy. Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases 45:305-318.

Levin ER, 2001. Cell localization, physiology and non-genomic actions of estrogen receptors. J Applied Physiol 91: 1860-1867.

Li W, Galey D, Mattson MP, Nath A, 2005. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of neuronal cell death in HIV dementia. Neurotox. Res. 8: 119-134.

Li CJ, Friedman DJ, Wang C, Metelev V, Pardee AB, 1995. Induction of apoptosis in uninfected lymphocytes by HIV-1 Tat protein. Science 268: 429-431.

Linford NJ, Dorsa DM, 2002. 17beta-Estradiol and the phytoestrogen genistein attenuate neuronal apoptosis induced by the endoplasmic reticulum calcium-ATPase inhibitor thapsigargin. Steroids 67: 1029-1040.

Liu X, Fan XL, Zhao Y, Luo GR, Li XP, Li R, Le WD, 2005. Estrogen provides neuroprotection against activated microglia-induced dopaminergic neuronal injury through both estrogen receptor-alpha and estrogen receptor-beta in microglia. J Neurosci Res 81: 653-665.

Lund TD, West TW, Tian LY, Bu LH, Simmons DL, Setchell KD, Adlercreutz H, Lephart ED, 2001. Visual spatial memory is enhanced in female rats (but inhibited in males) by dietary soy phytoestrogens.BMC Neurosci 2:20.

Macho A, Calzado MA, Jimenez-Reina L, Ceballos E, Leon J, Munoz E, 1999. Susceptibility of HIV-TAT transfected cells to undergo apoptosis. Biochemical mechanisms. Oncogene 18:7543-7551.

Magnuson DS, Knudsen BE, Geiger JD, Brownstone RM, Nath A, 1995. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 tat activates non-N-methyl-D-aspartate excitatory amino acid receptors and causes neurotoxicity. Ann Neurol 37: 373-380.

Marecki JC, Cota-Gomez A, Vaitaitis GM, Honda JR, Porntadavity S, St Clair DK, Flores SC, 2004. HIV-1 Tat regulates the SOD2 basal promoter by altering Sp1/Sp3 binding activity. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 37: 869-880.

Markovits J, Linassier C, Fosse P, Couprie J, Pierre J, Jacquemin-Sablon A, Saucier JM, Le Pecq JB, Larsen AK. Inhibitory effects of the tyrosine kinase inhibitor genistein on mammalian DNA topoisomerase II. Cancer Res. 49: 5111-5117.

Maschke M, Kastrup O, Forsting M, Diener HC, 2004. Update on neuroimaging in

infectious central nervous system disease. Curr. Opin. Neurol 17: 475-480.

McArthur JC, Brew BJ, Nath A. 2005. Neurological complications of HIV infection. Lancet Neurol 4: 543-555.

McEwen BS, Gould E, Orchinik M, Weiland NG, Woolley CS, 1995. Oestrogens and the structural and functional plasticity of neurons: implications for memory, ageing and neurodegenerative processes. Ciba Found. Symp. 191: 52-66.

McEwen BS, Alves SE (1999) Estrogen Actions in the Central Nervous System. Endocr Rev 20:279-307.

McEwen B, 2002. Estrogen Actions Throughout the Brain. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 57: 357-384.

McEwen B, Akama K, Alves S, Brake WG, Bulloch K, Lee S, Li C, Yuen G, Milner TA, 2001. Tracking the estrogen receptor in neurons: Implications for estrogen-induced synapse formation. PNAS 98: 7093-7100.

Mermelstein PG, Becker JB, Surmeier DJ, 1996. Estradiol reduces calcium currents in rat neostriatal neurons via a membrane receptor. J Neurosci 16: 595-604.

Miller DB, Ali SF, O'Callaghan JP, Laws SC, 1998. The impact of gender and estrogen on striatal dopaminergic neurotoxicity. Ann N Y. Acad Sci 844: 153-165.

Miller NR, Jover T, Cohen HW, Zukin RS, Etgen AM. 2005. Estrogen can act via estrogen receptor alpha and beta to protect hippocampal neurons against global ischemia-induced cell death. Endocrinology 146: 3070-3079.

Moore DJ, Masliah E, Rippeh JD, Gonzalez R, Carey CL, Cherner M, Ellis RJ, Achim CL, Marcotte TD, Heaton RK, Grant I, HNRC Group. 2006. Cortical and subcortical neurodegeneration is associated with HIV neurocognitive impairment. AIDS 20: 879-887.

Morale MC, Serra PA, L'episcopo F, Tirolo C, Caniglia S, Testa N, Gennuso F, Giaquinta G, Rocchitta G, Desole MS, Miele E, Marchetti B, 2006. Estrogen, neuroinflammation and neuroprotection in Parkinson's disease: glia dictates resistance versus vulnerability to neurodegeneration. Neuroscience 138: 869-878.

Morinaga A, Hirohata M, Ono K, Yamada M, 2007. Estrogen has anti-amyloidogenic effects on Alzheimer's beta-amyloid fibrils in vitro. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 359: 697-702.

Morissette M, Le Saux M, D'Astous M, Jourdain S, Al Sweidi S, Morin N, Estrada-Camarena E, Mendez P, Garcia-Segura LM, Di Paolo T. 2008. Contribution of estrogen receptors alpha and beta to the effects of estradiol in the brain. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 108:327-338.

Murray HE, Pillai AV, McArthur SR, Razvi N, Datla KP, Dexter DT, Gillies GE, 2003. Dose- and sex-dependent effects of the neurotoxin 6-hydroxydopamine on the nigrostriatal dopaminergic pathway of adult rats: differential actions of estrogen in males and females. Neuroscience 116: 213-222.

Myhre AJ, Dorsa DM. 2006. Estrogen activates rapid signaling in the brain: role of estrogen receptor alpha and estrogen receptor beta in neurons and glia. Neuroscience 138: 851-858.

Namura S, Zhu J, Fink K, Endres M, Srinivasan A, Tomaselli KJ, Yuan J, Moskowitz MA. 1998. Activation and cleavage of caspase-3 in apoptosis induced by experimental cerebral ischemia. J. Neurosci 18: 3659-3668.

Nath A, Schiess N, Venkatesan A, Rumbaugh J, Sacktor N, McArthur J, 2008. Evolution of HIV dementia with HIV infection. Int. Rev. Psychiatry 20: 25-31.

Nath A, Psooy K, Martin C, Knudsen B, Magnuson DS, Haughey N, Geiger JD (1996) Identification of a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat epitope that is neuroexcitatory and neurotoxic. J Virol 70:1475-1480.

New DR, Ma M, Epstein LG, et al. 1997. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat protein induces death by apoptosis in primary human neuron cultures. J Neurovirol. 3: 168-173.

Nilsen J. 2008. Estradiol and neurodegenerative oxidative stress. Front. Neuroendocrinology 29: 463-475.

Nilsen J et al. 2006. Estrogen protects neuronal cells from amyloid β -induced apoptosis via regulation of mitochondrial proteins and function. BMC Neurosci. 7:74.

Nilsen J, Irwin RW, Gallaher TK, Brinton RD, 2007. Estradiol in vivo regulation of brain mitochondrial proteome. J Neurosci 27: 4069-4077.

Noonan D, Albini A, 2000. From the outside in: extracellular activities of HIV Tat. Adv. Pharmacol. 48: 229-250.

Ozacmak VH, Sayan H, 2009. The effects of 17beta estradiol, 17alpha estradiol and progesterone on oxidative stress biomarkers in ovariectomized female rat brain subjected to global cerebral ischemia. Physiol Res. 58: 909-912.

Pan Y, Anthony M, Watson S, Clarkson TB, 2000. Soy phytoestrogens improve radial arm maze performance in ovariectomized retired breeder rats and do not attenuate benefits of 17beta-estradiol treatment. Menopause 7: 230-235.

Paul R, Cohen R, Navia B, Tashima K, 2002. Relationships between cognition and structural neuroimaging finding in adults with human immunodeficiency virus type-1. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev 26: 353-359.

Perez A, Probert AW, Wang KK, Sharmeen L. 2001. Evaluation of HIV-1 tat induced neurotoxicity in rat cortical cell culture. J. Neurovirol. 7(1): 1-10.

Pieczenik SR, Neustadt J (2007) Mitochondrial dysfunction and molecular pathways of disease. Experimental and Molecular Pathology 83:84-92.

Pike CJ, Carroll JC, Rosario ER, Barron AM. 2009. Protective actions of sex steroids hormones in Alzheimer's disease. Front Neuroendocrinol 30: 239-258.

Pocernich CB, Sultana R, Mohmmad-Abdul H, Nath A, Butterfield DA, 2005a. HIVdementia, Tat-induced oxidative stress, and antioxidant therapeutic considerations. Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev. 50: 14-26.

Pocernich CB, Sultana R, Mohmmad-Abdul H, Nath A, Butterfield DA, 2005b. HIVdementia, Tat-induced oxidative stress, and antioxidant therapeutic considerations. Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev. 50: 14-26.

Portegies P, Enting RH, de Gans J, Algra PR, Derix MM, Lange JM, Goudsmit J, 1993. Presentation and course of AIDS dementia complex: 10 years of follow-up in Amsterdam, The Netherlands. AIDS 7: 669-675.

Prakash O, Teng S, Ali M, Zhu X, Coleman R, Dabdoub RA, Chambers R, Aw TY, Flores SC, Joshi BH, 1997. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat protein potentiates zidovudine-induced cellular toxicity in transgenic mice. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 343: 173-180.

Prendergast MA, Rogers DT, Mulholland PJ, Littleton JM, Wilkins LH, Self RL, Nath A, 2002. Neurotoxic effects of the human immunodeficiency virus type-1 transcription factor Tat require function of a polyamine sensitive-site on the N-methyl--aspartate receptor. Brain Research 954:300-307.

Price RW, Brew B, Sidtis J, Rosenblum M, Scheck AC, Cleary P (1988) The brain in AIDS: central nervous system HIV-1 infection and AIDS dementia complex. Science 239:586-592.

Pupure J, Fernandes MA, Santos MS, Moreno AJ, Kalvinsh I, Klusa V, Oliveira CR, 2008. Mitochondria as the target for mildronate's protective effects in azidothymidine (AZT)-induced toxicity of isolated rat liver mitochondria. Cell Biochem Funct. 26: 620-631.

Quesada A, Micevych PE, 2004. Estrogen interacts with the IGF-1 system to protect

nigrostriatal dopamine and maintain motoric behavior after 6-hydroxdopamine lesions. J Neurosci Res 75: 107-116.

Ramirez AD, Liu X, Menniti FS, 2003. Repeated estradiol treatment prevents MPTPinduced dopamine depletion in male mice. Neuroendocrinology 77: 223-231.

Rappaport J, Joseph J, Croul S, Alexander G, Del Valle L, Amini S, Khalili K (1999) Molecular pathway involved in HIV-1-induced CNS pathology: role of viral regulatory protein, Tat. J Leukoc Biol 65:458-465.

Raz L, Khan MM, Mahesh VB, Vadlamudi RK, Brann DW, 2008. Rapid estrogen signaling in the brain. Neurosignals 16: 140-153.

Razmara A, Sunday L, Stirone C, Wang XB, Krause DN, Duckles SP, Procaccio V, 2008. Mitochondrial Effects of Estrogen Are Mediated by Estrogen Receptor +| in Brain Endothelial Cells. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 325: 782-790.

Rezza G, Lepri AC, d'Arminio-Monforte A, Pezzotie P, Castelli F, Dianzani F, et al. 2000. Plasma viral load concentrations in women and men from different exposure categories and with known duration of HIV infection. ICONA Study Group. J Acquir Immune Defic. Syndr. 25: 56-62.

Richard MJ, Guiraud P, Didier C, Seve M, Flores SC, Favier A, 2001. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat protein impairs selenoglutathione peroxidase expression and activity by a mechanism independent of cellular selenium uptake: consequences on cellular resistance to UV-A radiation. Arch. Biochem Biophys 386: 213-220.

Rocca WA, Bower JH, Maraganore DM, Ahlskog JE, Grossardt BR, de AM, Melton LJ, III, 2007. Increased risk of cognitive impairment or dementia in women who underwent oophorectomy before menopause. Neurology 69: 1074-1083.

Rogers E, Wagner AK, 2006. Gender, sex steroids, and neuroprotection following traumatic brain injury. J Head Trauma Rehabil. 21: 279-281.

Sabatier JM, Vives E, Mabrouk K, Benjouad A, Rochat H, Duval A, Hue B, Bahraoui E, 1991. Evidence for neurotoxic activity of tat from human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 65:961-967.

Sakai T, Kogiso M, 2008. Soy isoflavones and immunity. J Med Invest 55: 167-73.

Sastry KJ, Marin MC, Nehete PN, McConnell K, el-Naggar AK, McDonnell TJ, 1996. Expression of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 tat results in down-regulation of bcl-2 and induction of apoptosis in hematopoietic cells. Oncogene 13: 487-493.

Sawada H, Ibi M, Kihara T, Honda K, Nakamizo T, Kanki R, Nakanishi M, Sakka N, Akaike A, Shimohama S, 2002. Estradiol protects dopaminergic neurons in a MPP+Parkinson's disease model. Neuropharmacology 42: 1056-1064.

Sawada H, Ibi M, Kihara T, Urushitani M, Akaike A, Shimohama S, 1998. Estradiol protects mesencephalic dopaminergic neurons from oxidative stress-induced neuronal death. J Neurosci Res 54: 707-719.

Self RL, Mulholland PJ, Nath A, Harris BR, Prendergast MA (2004) The human immunodeficiency virus type-1 transcription factor Tat produces elevations in intracellular Ca2+ that require function of an N-methyl--aspartate receptor polyamine-sensitive site. Brain Research 995:39-45.

Setchell KD, 1998. Phytoestrogens: the biochemistry, physiology, and implications for human health of soy isoflavones. Am J Clin Nutr 68: 1333S-1346S.

Sevigny JJ, Albert SM, McDermott MP, Schiffitto G, McArthur JC, ,Sacktor N, et al. 2007. An evaluation of neurocognitive status and markers of immune activation as predictors of time to death in advanced HIV infection

Shi B, Raina J, Lorenzo A, Busciglio J, Gabuzda D, 1998. Neuronal apoptosis induced by HIV-1 Tat protein and TNF-alpha: potentiation of neurotoxicity mediated by oxidative stress and implications for HIV-1 dementia. J. Neurovirol. 4: 281-290.

Sies H, 1993. Strategies of antioxidant defense. Eur J Biochem. 215: 213-219.

Silvers JM, Aksenova MV, Aksenov MY, Mactutus CF, Booze RM, 2007. Neurotoxicity of HIV-1 Tat protein: involvement of D1 dopamine receptor. Neurotoxicology 28: 1184-1190.

Simpkins JW, Dykens JA. 2008. Mitochondrial mechanisms of estrogen neuroprotection. Brain Res. Rev. 57: 421-430.

Singh M. 2001. Ovarian hormones elicit phosphorylation of Akt and extracellular signal regulated kinase in explants of the cerebral cortex. Endocrine 14: 407-415.

Solenski NJ, 2007. Emerging risk factors for cerebrovascular disease. Curr. Drug Targets. 8: 802-816.

Sonee M, Sum T, Wang C, Mukherjee SK, 2004. The soy isoflavone, genistein, protects human cortical neuronal cells from oxidative stress. Neurotoxicology 25: 885-891.

Sporer B, Linke R, Seelos K, Paul R, Klopstock T, Pfister HW, 2005. HIV-induced chorea: evidence for basal ganglia dysregulation by SPECT. J Neurol 252: 356-358.

Stennicke HR, Salvesen GS. 2000. Caspases –controlling intracellular signals by protease zymogen activation. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1477: 299-306.

Sterling TA, Vlahov D, Astermborski J, Hoover DR, Margolick JB, Quinn TC. 2001. Initial plasma HIV-RNA levels and progression to AIDS I women and men. N Engl J Med 344: 720-725.

Stout JC, Ellis RJ, Jernigan TL, Archibald SL, Abramson I, Wolfson T, et al. 1998. Progressive cerebral volume loss in human immunodeficiency virus infection: a longitudinal volumetric magnetic resonance imaging study, HIV Neurobehavioral Research Center Group. Arch. Neurol. 55: 161-168.

Su JH, Nichol KE, Sitch T, Sheu P, Chubb C, Miller BL, Tomaselli KJ, Kim RC, Cotman CW. 2000. DNA damage and activated caspase-3 expression I neurons and

Steiner J, Haughey N, Li W, Venkatesan A, Anderson C, Reid R, Malpica T, Pocernich C, Butterfield DA, Nath A, 2006. Oxidative stress and therapeutic approaches in HIV dementia. Antioxid. Redox. Signal. 8: 2089-2100.

Stirone C, Duckles SP, Krause DN, Procaccio V, 2005. Estrogen Increases Mitochondrial Efficiency and Reduces Oxidative Stress in Cerebral Blood Vessels. Mol. Pharmacol. 68: 959-965.

Strehlow K, Rotter S, Wassmann S, Adam O, Grohe C, Laufs K, Bohm M, Nickenig G, 2003. Modulation of Antioxidant Enzyme Expression and Function by Estrogen. Circ. Res. 93: 170-177.

Than DM, Gardner CD, Haskell WL, 1998. Potential health benefits of dietary phytoestrogens: a review of the clinical, epidemiological, and mechanistic evidence. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83: 2223-2235.

Turchan J, Pocernich CB, Gairola C, Chauhan A, Schifitto G, Butterfield DA, Buch S, Narayan O, Sinai A, Geiger J, Berger JR, Elford H, Nath A, 2003. Oxidative stress in HIV demented patients and protection ex vivo with novel antioxidants. Neurology 60: 307-314.

Turchan J, Anderson C, Hauser K et al. 2001. Estrogen protects against the synergistic toxicity by HIV proteins, methamphetamine and cocaine. BMC Neurosci. 2(1): 3-

Umeh OC, Currier JS, 2006. Sex differences in pharmacokinetics and toxicity of antiretroviral therapy. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 2:273-283.

van de Bovenkamp M, Nottet HS, Pereira CF. 2002. Interactions of human immunodeficiency virus-1 proteins with neurons: possible role in the development of human immunodeficiency virus-1- associated dementia. Eur J Clin Invest 32: 619-627.

Vanoye-Carlo A, Mendoza-Rodriguez CA, Morales T, Langley E, Cerbon M. 2009. Estrogen receptors increased expression during hippocampal neuroprotection in lactating rats. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 116: 1-7.

Wallace DR, 2006. HIV Neurotoxicity: Potential Therapeutic Interventions. J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2006: 65741.

Wallace DR, Dodson S, Nath A, Booze RM. 2006. Estrogen attenuates gp120 and tat(1-72)-induced oxidative stress and prevents loss of dopamine transporter function. Synapse 59: 51-60.

Weaver CE Jr, Park-Chung M, Gibbs TT, Farb DH, 17beta-Estradiol protects against NMDA-induced excitotoxicity by direct inhibition of NMDA receptors. Brain Res 761: 338-341.

Weis S, Haug H, Budka H. 1993. Neuronal damage in the cerebral cortex of AIDS brains: a morphometric study. Acta. Neuropatholo. (Berl.) 85: 185-189.

Welch K, Morse A, 2002. The clinical profile of end-stage AIDS in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy. AIDS Patient Care STDS 16: 75-81.

Wiley CA, Baldwin M, Achim CL. 1996. Expression of HIV regulatory and structural mRNA in the central nervous system. AIDS 10: 843-847.

Wilson ME, Dimayuga FO, Reed JL, Curry TE, Anderson CF, Nath A, Bruce-Keller AJ. 2006. Immune modulation by estrogens: role in CNS HIV-1 infection. Endocrine 29: 289-297.

Witkowska HE, Carlquist M, Engstr÷m O, Carlsson B, Bonn T, Gustafsson J+, Shackleton CHL, 2008. Characterization of bacterially expressed rat estrogen receptor [beta] ligand binding domain by mass spectrometry: Structural comparison with estrogen receptor [alpha]. Steroids 62: 621-631.

Wooten GF, Currie LJ, Bovbjerg VE, Lee JK, Patrie J, 2004. Are men at greater risk for Parkinson's disease than women? J Neurol Neurosurg. Psychiatry 75: 637-639.

Xu H, Wang R, Zhang YW, Zhang X, 2006. Estrogen, beta-amyloid metabolism/trafficking, and Alzheimer's disease. Ann N Y. Acad Sci 1089: 324-342.

Yang HQ, Zang WZ, Xu J, 2008. [Akt activation mediates estrogen-induced neuroprotection against beta amyloid]. Zhonghua Yi. Xue. Za Zhi. 88: 1783-1786.

Yang SH, Liu R, Perez EJ, Wen Y, Stevens SM, Valencia T, Brun-Zinkernage AM, Prokai L, Will Y, Dykens J, Koulen P, Simpkins JW. 2004. Mitochondrial localization of estrogen receptor beta. Proc Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101: 4130-4135.

Zeng H, Chen O, Zho, 2008. Genistein ameliorates beta-amyloid (25-35)-induced hippocampal and neuronal apoptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 36: 180-188

Zhang Y, Goodyer C, LeBlanc A. 2000. Selective and protracted apoptosis in human primary neurons microinjected with active caspase -3, -6, -7, and -8. J. Neurosci 20: 8384-8389.

Zheng J, Thylin MR, Ghorpade A, Xiong H, Persidsky Y, Cotter R, Niemann D, Che M, et al. 1999. Intracellular CXCR4 signaling, neuronal apoptosis and neuropathogenic mechanisms of HIV-1 associated dementia. J Neuroimmunol. 98: 185-200.